

Nicolás Andruskiewitsch · Giovanna Carnovale · Gastón Andrés García

Finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebras over finite simple groups of Lie type V. Mixed classes in Chevalley and Steinberg groups

Received: 8 August 2019 / Accepted: 16 September 2020 /

Published online: 26 September 2020

Abstract. We show that all classes that are neither semisimple nor unipotent in finite simple Chevalley or Steinberg groups different from $\mathbf{PSL}_n(q)$ collapse (i.e. are never the support of a finite-dimensional Nichols algebra). As a consequence, we prove that the only finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebra whose group of group-like elements is $\mathbf{PSp}_{2n}(q)$, $\mathbf{P\Omega}_{4n}^+(q)$, $\mathbf{P\Omega}_{4n}^-(q)$, $^3D_4(q)$, $E_7(q)$, $E_8(q)$, $F_4(q)$, or $G_2(q)$ with q even is the group algebra.

Contents

Finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebras over finite simple groups of Lie type	pe V.
Mixed classes in Chevalley and Steinberg groups605	
Abstract	605

The work of N. A. was partially supported by CONICET, Secyt (UNC) and the Alexander von Humboldt Foundation through the Research Group Linkage Programme. The work of G. A. G. was partially supported by CONICET, Secyt (UNLP) and ANPCyT-Foncyt 2014-0507. The work of G. C. was partially supported by Progetto BIRD179758/17 of the University of Padova. The results were obtained during visits of N. A. and G. A. G. to the University of Padova, and of G. C. to the University of Córdoba, partially supported by: the bilateral agreement between these Universities, the ICTP-INdAM Research in Pairs fellowship programme and the Coimbra group Scholarship Programme for Young Professors and Researchers from Latin American Universities. The authors wish to thank the referee for his/her careful reading and suggestions.

N. Andruskiewitsch: CIEM – CONICET, FaMAF, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Medina Allende s/n, Ciudad Universitaria, 5000 Córdoba, Argentina e-mail: andrus@famaf.unc.edu.ar

G. Carnovale (⊠): Dipartimento di Matematica Tullio Levi-Civita, Università degli Studi di Padova, via Trieste 63, 35121 Padua, Italy

e-mail: carnoval@math.unipd.it

G. A. García: CONICET, Departamento de Matemática, Facultad de Ciencias Exactas, Universidad Nacional de La Plata, C. C. 172, 1900 La Plata, Argentina e-mail: ggarcia@mate.unlp.edu.ar

Mathematics Subject Classification: 16T05 · 20D06

1. 1 Introduction	 . 606
2. 2 Notation and preliminaries	 . 609
2.1. 2.1 The groups G	
2.2. 2.2 <i>F</i> -stable tori	
2.3. 2.3 The elements w_{θ}	
2.4. 2.4 Semisimple classes	
2.5. 2.5 Commuting elements in a semisimple class	
2.6. 2.6 Real classes	
2.7. 2.7 Non-central elements in the torus	
2.8. 2.8 Racks	
2.9. 2.9 Known results on unipotent classes	
2.102.10 Results on products of racks	
3. 3 Mixed classes	
3.1. 3.1 Classes in centralisers of semisimple elements	
3.2. 3.2 Subracks obtained by the action of the Weyl group	
4. 4 Mixed classes in Chevalley groups	
4.1. 4.1 The case $x_s \in \mathbb{T}^F$. 621
4.2. 4.2 The remaining cases	
5. 5 Mixed classes in Steinberg groups	
6. 6 Nichols algebras over Chevalley and Steinberg groups	
6.1. 6.1 Unipotent orbits in Chevalley and Steinberg groups 6.2. 6.2 Proofs of Theorems 1.2 and 1.3	
6.2. 6.2 Proofs of Theorems 1.2 and 1.3	 . 043

1. Introduction

This is the fifth of a series of papers where we study a set of group-theoretical questions on conjugacy classes of finite simple groups of Lie type because of their consequences on the classification of finite-dimensional Hopf algebras (over an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0, say \mathbb{C}). Let us start with a brief discussion of the reduction from the latter problem to the former. See the Introductions of [2,5] for a more detailed exposition.

- (1) Let G be a group. There is a braided tensor category ${}^{\mathbb{C}G}_{\mathbb{C}G}\mathcal{YD}$ of so called Yetter–Drinfeld modules over (the group algebra of) G. Each $V \in {}^{\mathbb{C}G}_{\mathbb{C}G}\mathcal{YD}$ gives rise to a graded Hopf algebra $\mathfrak{B}(V)$ in ${}^{\mathbb{C}G}_{\mathbb{C}G}\mathcal{YD}$, called the Nichols algebra of V. See e.g. [1] for details.
- (2) Let \mathcal{H} be a pointed Hopf algebra whose group of group-like elements is isomorphic to G. There is a Nichols algebra $\mathfrak{B}(V)$ attached as a fundamental invariant to \mathcal{H} . For instance dim $\mathcal{H} < \infty$ implies dim $\mathfrak{B}(V) < \infty$; in fact $\mathfrak{B}(V)$ controls much of the structure of \mathcal{H} .
- (3) Assume that G is finite. Then ${}^{\mathbb{C}G}_{G}\mathcal{YD}$ is semisimple and its simple objects are parametrized by pairs (\mathcal{O}, ρ) , where \mathcal{O} is a conjugacy class of G and $\rho \in \operatorname{Irr} C_G(x)$ is an irreducible representation of the centralizer of a fixed element x in \mathcal{O} ; let $M(\mathcal{O}, \rho)$ be the simple object corresponding to (\mathcal{O}, ρ) . By the previous discussion, we need to determine the pairs (\mathcal{O}, ρ) with dim $\mathfrak{B}(M(\mathcal{O}, \rho)) < \infty$ as a necessary initial step to classify finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebras with group of group-likes G.

- (4) The second reduction goes as follows. It turns out that the Nichols algebra $\mathfrak{B}(M(\mathcal{O},\rho))$ depends only (in an appropriate sense) on the rack structure of \mathcal{O} (with rack operation given by conjugation: $x \triangleright y = xyx^{-1}$) and a suitable 2-cocycle \mathbf{q} arising from ρ . In this way, it is more efficient to deal with Nichols algebras $\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{O},\mathbf{q})$ of pairs (\mathcal{O},\mathbf{q}) where \mathcal{O} is a rack and \mathbf{q} is a 2-cocycle, as the same such pair may arise from different groups.
- (5) Let us say that a rack \mathcal{O} collapses if $\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{O}, \mathbf{q})$ has infinite dimension for any suitable cocycle \mathbf{q} , cf. [6, 2.2]. Remarkably there are rack-theoretical criteria that imply that a rack collapses, without computing neither cocycles nor Nichols algebras. These criteria can be spelled out in group-theoretical terms, once a realization of the rack in consideration as a conjugacy class is fixed. See 2.8.

In this series we investigate the applicability of these criteria for finite simple groups of Lie type, excluding the Suzuki and Ree groups treated in [9]. For alternating and sporadic groups, see [6,7,11,12]. Let G be a finite simple Chevalley or Steinberg group defined over a finite field \mathbb{F}_q where $q=p^m$, with $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and p prime. An element of G is semisimple, respectively unipotent, if its order is coprime to p, respectively a power of p. These notions are unambiguous except when G is one of the following:

$$PSL_2(4) \simeq PSL_2(5)$$
, $PSL_3(2) \simeq PSL_2(7)$, $PSU_4(2) \simeq PSp_4(3)$. (1.1)

A class is semisimple or unipotent if any element of it is so. This paper deals with *mixed* conjugacy classes i.e., which are neither semisimple nor unipotent; evidently there are no mixed classes in $\mathbf{PSL}_2(q)$. For the groups in (1.1), unipotent, semisimple or mixed will mean so in one of the realizations (with some ambiguity unless the realization is clear from the context). The mixed conjugacy classes of $\mathbf{PSL}_n(q)$ were treated in [2]. In the previous four papers of the series [2–5] we concluded the analysis of the unipotent conjugacy classes of G which is summarized in Table 1. Elaborating on these results we obtain the first main theorem of this paper:

Theorem 1.1. A mixed conjugacy class in a simple Chevalley or Steinberg group collapses.

This Theorem and its proof propagate in many directions. For instance, if $\varpi: H \to G$ is a projection from a finite group H to our G and $x \in H$ is such that $\varpi(x)$ is neither semisimple nor unipotent, then \mathcal{O}_x^H collapses. Here and below we use the notation \mathcal{O}_x^H for the conjugacy class of x in H and we omit H if clear from the context. For example let $H = G_1 \times G_2 \cdots \times G_t$, where all G_j 's are simple Chevalley or Steinberg groups and $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_t) \in H$. If x_j is neither semisimple nor unipotent for at least one j, then \mathcal{O}_x^H collapses. Another application of Theorem 1.1 is to Nichols algebras of Yetter–Drinfeld modules over our G.

Theorem 1.2. Let G be a simple Chevalley or Steinberg group and $V \in {}^{\mathbb{C}G}_{G}\mathcal{YD}$. Assume that G is not listed in (1.1). If $\dim \mathfrak{B}(V) < \infty$, then $V \simeq M(\mathcal{O}, \rho)$ is simple and \mathcal{O} is semisimple.

Notice that we are not claiming the converse in Theorem 1.2. Indeed Theorem 1.1 is the culmination of our analysis of unipotent classes where we rely on the

combinatorial description of such classes in the algebraic group behind G. We started the consideration of the semisimple classes in $G = \mathbf{PSL}_n(q)$ in [4]; already in this case the situation is much more involved and requires a different type of arguments.

As for the groups listed in (1.1), we have the following. Let $V \in {}^{\mathbb{C}G}_{\mathbb{C}G}\mathcal{YD}$.

- $G \simeq \mathbf{PSL}_2(4) \simeq \mathbf{PSL}_2(5) \simeq \mathbb{A}_5$: dim $\mathfrak{B}(V) = \infty$ by [14,15].
- $G \simeq \text{PSL}_3(2) \simeq \text{PSL}_2(7)$: If dim $\mathfrak{B}(V) < \infty$, then V is simple, hence isomorphic to $M(\mathcal{O}_x, \rho)$ for some x and ρ by [19, Corollary 8.3]. We conclude that the order of x is 4 and $\rho(x) = -1$ by [15].
- $G \simeq \text{PSU}_4(2) \simeq \text{PSp}_4(3)$: dim $\mathfrak{B}(V) = \infty$. Indeed, assume otherwise. Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 1.2, necessarily $V \simeq M(\mathcal{O}_x, \rho)$ and the order of x is odd and not divisible by 3; by inspection, it is 5. Now there is only one class of elements of such order, hence this class is real. But this contradicts [8].

For some Chevalley or Steinberg groups the arguments for Theorem 1.2 can be pushed even further. A folklore conjecture claims that there is no finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebra whose group of group-like elements is simple non-abelian, except the group algebra. The conjecture is known to hold for the simple alternating groups [6], the sporadic groups (including the Tits group) except Fi_{22} , B and M [7] and for some families of $\mathbf{PSL}_n(q)$'s [4,14]. As we just saw, it also holds for $\mathbf{PSU}_4(2) \simeq \mathbf{PSp}_4(3)$; otherwise the Conjecture is open. We add to the list of confirmations of the Conjecture the families in (1.2), except from $\mathbf{PSL}_2(q)$ for q even, that had already been treated.

Theorem 1.3. Let q be even and let G be a simple group in one of the following families:

PSL₂(q), **PSp**_{2n}(q), **PΩ**⁺_{4n}(q), **PΩ**⁻_{4n}(q),

$${}^{3}D_{4}(q)$$
, $E_{7}(q)$, $E_{8}(q)$, $F_{4}(q)$, $G_{2}(q)$. (1.2)

Let $\mathcal H$ be a finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebra whose group of group-like elements is isomorphic to G. Then $\mathcal H\simeq \mathbb C G$.

Here is the structure of the article. In Section 2 we set the notation and collect basic preliminary results used in the paper. In order to prove Theorem 1.1 we adopt the following strategy. Let $x = x_s x_u$ be the Chevalley-Jordan decomposition of $x \in G$ (which amounts to the p-decomposition in the theory of finite groups) where we assume that neither x_s nor x_u are trivial. Recall that there is a surjective group homomorphism $\pi : \mathbb{G}^F \to G$, where \mathbb{G} is a simply connected simple algebraic group and F is a Steinberg endomorphism–see Sect. 2 for details. We pick $x \in \mathbb{G}^F$ such that $\pi(x) = x$. If $x = x_u x_s$ is its Chevalley–Jordan decomposition, then $x_u = \pi(x_u)$. There is a natural inclusion of racks (3.1) of $\mathcal{O}_{x_u}^K$ in \mathcal{O}_x^G , where \mathcal{K} is the centraliser of x_s in \mathbb{G}^F ; we restrict our attention to $\mathcal{O}_{x_u}^K$. The structure of \mathcal{K} is known and $\mathcal{O}_{x_u}^K$ contains a product of unipotent conjugacy classes of smaller groups of Lie type. Thus the unipotent classes in the factors of the centraliser must occur in Table 1. In this way we are able to provide strong restrictions to potential kthulhu classes, see (3.5) and (3.6). Then we focus on the resulting reduced list of classes and we

bring the action of the Weyl group into the picture, providing further techniques to deal with most of the potential kthulhu classes. These methods are still quite general and allow to cover a considerable list of groups, see Proposition 3.8, and leave out a few exceptions in the remaining ones. The substance of the preceding sketch is contained in Sect. 3. The classes for which all above techniques fail can be described with sufficient precision, allowing us to carry out the final analysis. However, this part of the proof is laborious and it needs several ad-hoc considerations and a separation of the treatment for Chevalley (Sect. 4) and Steinberg groups (Sect. 5), where a case-by-case analysis is performed. Finally we prove Theorems 1.2 and 1.3 in Sect. 6.

2. Notation and preliminaries

In this Section we establish notation, recall some known facts about racks and simple algebraic groups over finite fields, and collect some results on unipotent conjugacy classes that are used throughout the paper.

For
$$k \leq l, k, l \in \mathbb{N}$$
 we set $\mathbb{I}_{k,l} := \{k, k+1, \ldots, l\}$ and $\mathbb{I}_l = \mathbb{I}_{1,l}$. Let p be a prime, $q = p^m$ for $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $\mathbb{k} = \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}$.

Let $\mathbb G$ be a simple algebraic group over $\mathbb k$; we fix a maximal torus $\mathbb T$ and a Borel subgroup $\mathbb B \supset \mathbb T$. We denote by $\mathbb U$ the unipotent radical of $\mathbb B$. Let Φ be the root system of $\mathbb G$, let Φ^+ be the set of positive roots associated with $(\mathbb T,\mathbb B)$ and let $\Delta=\{\alpha_i,\ i\in\mathbb I_\ell\}$ be the corresponding base, with ω_i , for $i\in\mathbb I_\ell$ the set of fundamental weights. The root subgroup corresponding to α will be denoted by $\mathbb U_\alpha$. It is the image of a monomorphism of groups $x_\alpha:\mathbb k\to\mathbb G$. Since we will consider conjugacy classes as racks (see Sect. 2.8), the conjugation action of $g\in\mathbb G$ on $h\in\mathbb G$ will be indicated by $g\triangleright h$. Adopting the notation from [24, 8.1.4], we have the commutation rule:

$$t \triangleright x_{\alpha}(a) = tx_{\alpha}(a)t^{-1} = x_{\alpha}(\alpha(t)a), \qquad t \in \mathbb{T}, \ \alpha \in \Phi, \ a \in \mathbb{k}.$$
 (2.1)

We shall also make use of Chevalley's commutator formula [27, Lemma 15, p. 22 and Corollary, p. 24]. Namely, for α , $\beta \in \Phi^+$ such that $\alpha + \beta \in \Phi^+$ and any order on the set Γ of positive roots of the form $i\alpha + j\beta$ for $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$, there exist integers $c_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}$ such that

$$x_{\alpha}(\xi)x_{\beta}(\eta)x_{\alpha}(\xi)^{-1}x_{\beta}(\eta)^{-1} = \prod_{i\alpha+j\beta\in\Gamma} x_{i\alpha+j\beta}(c_{ij}^{\alpha\beta}\xi^{i}\eta^{j}), \quad \forall \xi, \eta \in \mathbb{k}. \quad (2.2)$$

For further unexplained notation and commutation rules we refer to [3, Section 3]. By α_0 we will denote the highest root in Φ , and we set $\widetilde{\Delta} := \Delta \cup \{-\alpha_0\}$. As usual, $W = N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T})/\mathbb{T}$ denotes the Weyl group, acting naturally on \mathbb{T} and s_{α} is the reflection with respect to the root α . Let $\sigma \in W$ be represented by $\dot{\sigma} \in N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T})$ and let \mathbb{M} be a subgroup of \mathbb{G} normalized by \mathbb{T} . Then the subgroup $\dot{\sigma}\mathbb{M}\dot{\sigma}^{-1}$ is independent of the choice of $\dot{\sigma}$ and we shall simply write $\sigma\mathbb{M}$.

If we insist that \mathbb{G} is simply-connected, we shall write \mathbb{G}_{sc} . For an algebraic group \mathbb{M} , we shall denote by \mathbb{M}° the connected component containing the identity. If ϕ is an automorphism of a group H, then H^{ϕ} will denote the set of elements of H that are fixed by ϕ .

2.1. The groups G

Let F be a Steinberg endomorphism of \mathbb{G} , and assume \mathbb{T} and \mathbb{B} are F-stable. Let $G:=\mathbb{G}_{sc}^F/Z(\mathbb{G}_{sc}^F)$ and let $\pi:\mathbb{G}_{sc}^F\to G$ be the natural projection. In most cases G is simple and, conversely, every finite simple group of Lie type is obtained this way (except the Tits group that was treated in the paper [7] with the sporadic groups). Here we deal with Chevalley or Steinberg groups; thus, F is the composition of a standard graph automorphism ϑ of \mathbb{G} with the Frobenius map Fr_q . Then ϑ determines an automorphism θ of the Dynkin diagram of \mathbb{G} . If $\theta=\operatorname{id}$, then G is a Chevalley group, whereas if $\theta\neq\operatorname{id}$, then G is a Steinberg group. In the latter case, \mathbb{T} and \mathbb{B} are chosen to be both F-stable and Fr_q -stable and in both cases $\operatorname{Fr}_q(t)=t^q$ for any $t\in\mathbb{T}$. Since \mathbb{T} is F-stable, F acts on F0 and we denote by F1 the subgroup fixed by F2. Thus F1 we for Chevalley groups. For each F2 we for Chevalley groups. For each F3 there exists a representative F4 and any F5 we generally F5. Also, for any representative F6 we and any F7 one has that F8 be the natural projection. In most cases F5 and F6 and F7 are existed as the subgroup of F8 and F9 are F9.

2.2. F-stable tori

We recall that a maximal torus $g\mathbb{T}g^{-1}$ in \mathbb{G} is F-stable if and only if $\dot{w}=g^{-1}F(g)\in N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T})$ and this relation induces a map ϕ from the set of F-stable maximal tori to W. In addition, two F-stable maximal tori \mathbb{T}_1 and \mathbb{T}_2 are conjugate by an element in \mathbb{G}^F if and only if their images $\phi(\mathbb{T}_1)$ and $\phi(\mathbb{T}_2)$ lie in the same F-twisted conjugacy class in W [21, Prop. 25.1]. If this is the case, their fixed points subgroups \mathbb{T}_1^F and \mathbb{T}_2^F are also conjugate in \mathbb{G}^F . We will indicate by \mathbb{T}_w a maximal torus $g\mathbb{T}g^{-1}$ such that $g^{-1}F(g)=\dot{w}\in N_{\mathbb{G}^{\mathrm{Fr}_q}}(\mathbb{T})$. Observe that every w in $W^{\mathrm{Fr}_q}=W$ has a representative \dot{w} in $N_{\mathbb{G}^{\mathrm{Fr}_q}}(\mathbb{T})$ by [21, 23.1] and existence of a $g\in \mathbb{G}$ such that $g^{-1}F(g)=\dot{w}$ is guaranteed by the Lang-Steinberg theorem. Hence, such a torus always exists.

2.3. The elements w_{θ}

Let ϑ be as above and let θ be the associated automorphism of the Dynkin diagram; it extends to an automorphism of the root system of $\mathbb G$ that we denote again by θ . Assume that $\theta = \operatorname{id}$ or $\theta = -w_0$, where w_0 is the longest element in W. The latter occurs for Steinberg groups with root system of type: A_ℓ for $\ell \geq 2$; D_ℓ for $\ell \geq 5$ and odd; and E_6 . Let $w \in W$ and take $\mathbb T_w$, $\dot w \in N_{\mathbb G^{\operatorname{Fr}_q}}(\mathbb T)$ and g as in Sect. 2.2. We set $w_\theta := ww_0^{|\theta|-1}$. Since $C_W(w_\theta) = C_W(w\theta)$, [21, Prop. 25.3] guarantees that there exists a representative $\dot w_\theta$ of w_θ in $N_{\mathbb G}(\mathbb T)$ such that $g\dot w_\theta g^{-1} \in N_{\mathbb G^F}(\mathbb T_w)$. If $\theta = -w_0$, then we set $\dot w_0 := \dot w^{-1}\dot w_\theta$.

2.4. Semisimple classes

Every semisimple element of \mathbb{G}^F lies in an F-stable torus $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}$ [21, Prop. 26.6]. In particular, if $\phi(\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}) = w$ and $s \in \mathbb{G}^F \cap \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}$, then \mathbb{T}_w^F is \mathbb{G}^F -conjugate to $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^F$, so $\mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}^F} \cap \mathbb{T}_w \neq \emptyset$.

Let $s \in \mathbb{G}^F \cap \mathbb{T}_w = \mathbb{T}_w^F$, with g, \dot{w} as in Sect. 2.2. We set $F_w := \mathrm{Ad}(\dot{w}) \circ F$. Then $s = gtg^{-1}$ for some $t \in \mathbb{T}^{F_w}$, so

$$F(t) = w^{-1}(t) = \operatorname{Ad}(\dot{w}^{-1})(t). \tag{2.3}$$

Sometimes it is convenient to consider other F-stable tori intersecting $\mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}^F}$. Assume that $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{G}_{sc}$ and pick $\sigma \in W$ such that $\sigma^{-1}(t) = F(t)$, i. e. σ and w lie in the same left coset for the stabiliser of t in W. Then for every representative $\dot{\sigma} \in \mathcal{N}_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T})$ and every g_{σ} such that $g_{\sigma}^{-1}F(g_{\sigma}) = \dot{\sigma}$ we have

$$s' := g_{\sigma} t g_{\sigma}^{-1} \in \mathbb{G}^F \cap \mathcal{O}_t^{\mathbb{G}} \stackrel{\star}{=} \mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}^F}$$

so $\mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}^F}$ has a representative in \mathbb{T}_σ^F for any such σ . Here \star holds because $C_{\mathbb{G}}(s)$ is connected, since $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{G}_{sc}$ is simply-connected, [20, Theorem 2.11].

2.5. Commuting elements in a semisimple class

Let s, w, g and t be as in Sect. 2.4. We look for powers of s lying in $\mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}^F}$. If $\theta = \mathrm{id}$ or $\theta = -w_0$, we have:

$$\begin{split} (g\dot{w}_{\theta}^{-1}g^{-1}) \triangleright s &= (g\dot{w}_{\theta}^{-1}) \triangleright t = g \triangleright (w_{0}^{|\theta|-1}w^{-1}t) \\ &= g \triangleright (w_{0}^{|\theta|-1}\vartheta t^{q}) = \begin{cases} g \triangleright t^{q} = s^{q}, & \text{if } \theta = \text{id}, \\ g \triangleright t^{-q} = s^{-q}, & \text{if } \theta = -w_{0}, \end{cases} \end{split}$$

so either $\mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}^F}=\mathcal{O}_{s^q}^{\mathbb{G}^F}$ (when $\theta=\operatorname{id}$) or $\mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}^F}=\mathcal{O}_{s^{-q}}^{\mathbb{G}^F}$ ($\theta=-w_0$). Assume that $\theta=\operatorname{id}$. Even when $s^q=s$ we get some information. In this case,

Assume that $\theta = \text{id}$. Even when $s^q = s$ we get some information. In this case, $t \in \mathbb{G}^F$, so $t \in \mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}} \cap \mathbb{G}^F$. If, in addition, $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{G}_{sc}$ then $C_{\mathbb{G}}(s)$ is connected, [20, Theorem 2.11], and $\mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}^F} = \mathcal{O}_t^{\mathbb{G}^F}$. Hence $\mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}^F} \cap \mathbb{T}^F \neq \emptyset$, that is, the class intersects \mathbb{T} .

2.6. Real classes

Assume $w_0 = -\operatorname{id}$ and let s, \mathbb{T}_w , \dot{w} and g as in Sect. 2.2. Then $w_0 \in C_W(w\theta)$ so there exists a representative \dot{w}_0 of w_0 in $N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T})$ such that $g\dot{w}_0g^{-1} \in N_{\mathbb{G}^F}(\mathbb{T}_w)$. Then

$$(g\dot{w}_0g^{-1}) \triangleright s = (g\dot{w}_0) \triangleright t = g \triangleright t^{-1} = s^{-1} \in \mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{G}^F}.$$

2.7. Non-central elements in the torus

We need the following fact on algebraic groups. Assume $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{G}_{sc}$. We recall that, for $t \in \mathbb{T} - Z(\mathbb{G})$, there always exists $\alpha \in \Delta$ such that $s_{\alpha}(t) \neq t$. Indeed, suppose that $s_{\alpha}(t) = t$ for every $\alpha \in \Delta$. Then w(t) = t for every $w \in W$. By [20, 2.2], W is then the Weyl group of the reductive group $C_{\mathbb{G}}(t) = \langle \mathbb{T}, \mathbb{U}_{\alpha} \mid \alpha(t) = 1 \rangle$. Now the Dynkin diagram of $C_{\mathbb{G}}(t)$ can be read off from the Coxeter graph of W, except

when \mathbb{G} is of type B_{ℓ} or C_{ℓ} . This forces $C_{\mathbb{G}}(t) = \mathbb{G}$ (because the two groups have the same Dynkin diagram, or by comparison of the dimensions), a contradiction as t is not central.

Such an α also satisfies $\alpha(t) \neq 1$. Indeed, t commutes with \mathbb{U}_{α} if and only if $\alpha(t) = 1$ if and only if t commutes with $\mathbb{U}_{-\alpha}$. In addition, $s_{\alpha}(t) = \dot{s}_{\alpha} \triangleright t$ for any representative \dot{s}_{α} of s_{α} in $N_{\mathbb{G}}(T)$. Since there is a representative of s_{α} lying in $\mathbb{U}_{\alpha}\mathbb{U}_{-\alpha}\mathbb{U}_{\alpha}$ [24, 8.1.4], we get a contradiction and whence the claim follows.

2.8. Racks

We recall the notion of rack and some definitions that will be needed later. In the present paper all racks are (unions of) conjugacy classes. See [4] for details and more information.

A rack is a set $X \neq \emptyset$ with a self-distributive operation $\triangleright : X \times X \to X$ such that $x \triangleright$ is bijective for every $x \in X$. The standard example is the conjugacy class \mathcal{O}_z^M of an element z in a group M with the operation $x \triangleright y = xyx^{-1}$, for $x, y \in \mathcal{O}_z^M$. A subrack of a rack X is a non-empty subset Y such that $x \triangleright y \in Y$ for all x, y \in Y. A rack X is abelian if x \triangleright y = y, for all x, y \in X. In [2,4,6] the notions of racks of type D, F and C were introduced. Since we will deal with subracks of conjugacy classes, we recall the translation of these notions in this case.

Definition 2.1. A conjugacy class \mathcal{O} in a finite group M is of type

```
C if there exist H \leq M and r, s \in \mathcal{O} \cap H such that
```

```
(a) rs \neq sr,
```

(b)
$$\mathcal{O}_r^H \neq \mathcal{O}_s^H$$
,

(c)
$$H = \langle \mathcal{O}_r^H, \mathcal{O}_s^H \rangle$$
,

(d) either min($|\mathcal{O}_r^H|$, $|\mathcal{O}_s^H|$) > 2 or max($|\mathcal{O}_r^H|$, $|\mathcal{O}_s^H|$) > 4;

D if there exists $r, s \in \mathcal{O}$ such that

```
(a) (rs)^2 \neq (sr)^2,

(b) \mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r, s \rangle} \neq \mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r, s \rangle};
```

(b)
$$\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r, s \rangle} \neq \mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r, s \rangle}$$
;

F if there exists $r_i \in \mathcal{O}$, for $i \in \mathbb{I}_4$ such that

(a)
$$r_i r_j \neq r_j r_i$$
, for $i \neq j$,
(b) $\mathcal{O}_{r_i}^{\langle r_i, i \in \mathbb{I}_4 \rangle} \neq \mathcal{O}_{r_j}^{\langle r_i, i \in \mathbb{I}_4 \rangle}$, for $i \neq j$.

A rack is kthulhu if it is neither of type C, D nor F.

Remark 2.2. The properties of type C, D, F are well-behaved with respect to projections and inclusions, [6, Section 3.2], [2, Remark 2.9 (a)], [4, Lemma 2.10]. In other words, if a rack X has either a quotient or a subrack which is not kthulhu, then *X* is not kthulhu.

The main motivation for seeking conjugacy classes that are not kthulhu stems from the classification of finite-dimensional Nichols algebras.

Theorem 2.3. [6, Theorem 3.6], [2, Theorem 2.8], [4, Theorem 2.9]. A conjugacy class \mathcal{O} of type D, F or C collapses. Remark 2.4. Let M be a finite group whose order is divisible by p. Let $y, z \in M$ and write $y = y_s y_u$ and $z = z_s z_u$ as products of their p-regular and p-parts. Then $\langle y, z \rangle = \langle y_s, y_u, z_s, z_u \rangle$ and if $y_s z_u \neq z_u y_s$ or $y_s z_s \neq z_s y_s$ then $yz \neq zy$. In particular, if M is a finite group of Lie type, then $\langle y, z \rangle$ is generated by the semisimple and unipotent parts of y and z and non-commutation of y and z can be checked on their semisimple or unipotent parts.

The next lemma is instrumental to detect classes of type C in finite groups.

Lemma 2.5. Let M be a finite group whose order is divisible by p. Let $y, z \in M$ and write $y = y_s y_u$ and $z = z_s z_u$ as products of their p-regular and p-parts. If

$$y_s z_u \neq z_u y_s$$
 and $z_s y_u \neq y_u z_s$, (2.4)

then $yz \neq zy$, $|\mathcal{O}_{y}^{\langle y,z \rangle}| \geq 3$ and $|\mathcal{O}_{z}^{\langle y,z \rangle}| \geq 3$. If in addition y and z are conjugate in M and $\mathcal{O}_{y}^{\langle y,z \rangle} \cap \mathcal{O}_{z}^{\langle y,z \rangle} = \emptyset$, then \mathcal{O}_{y}^{M} is of type C.

Proof. By Remark 2.4 any of the inequalities in (2.4) implies that $yz \neq zy$. Moreover, $\mathcal{O}_{Y}^{\langle y,z\rangle}$ contains the orbits $\langle z_s \rangle \triangleright y$ and $\langle z_u \rangle \triangleright y$. Since by (2.4) we know that z_u and z_s are nontrivial, one of these two elements has odd order bigger than 1. This implies that $|\mathcal{O}_{Y}^{\langle y,z\rangle}| \geq 3$. The inequality $|\mathcal{O}_{Z}^{\langle y,z\rangle}| \geq 3$ follows by symmetry. The last assertion follows by taking the subgroup $H = \langle y, z \rangle$.

2.9. Known results on unipotent classes

In this paper we analyze conjugacy classes that are neither semisimple nor unipotent in finite simple groups of Lie type (mixed classes), in order to determine when such a class is non-kthulhu. By Remark 2.2, it is enough to find subracks or quotients which are not kthulhu. With this aim, we will first look for non-kthulhu subracks that are isomorphic to unipotent classes in simple groups, relying on the results in [2–5] on unipotent conjugacy classes. These are summarized in the following theorem.

Theorem 2.6. Let $G = \mathbb{G}_{sc}^F/Z(\mathbb{G}_{sc}^F)$ be a Chevalley or a Steinberg group and let $\mathcal{O} \neq \{e\}$ be a unipotent conjugacy class in G, not listed in Table 1. Then \mathcal{O} is not kthulhu.

Remark 2.7. We list some properties of the unipotent classes from Table 1, see [2,3,5].

- (1) For every group in Table 1 there are at most two unipotent conjugacy classes labeled as in the second column of the table and they are isomorphic as racks. There is only one class labeled by (3) in $\mathbf{PSL}_3(2)$. Also, there is only one class labeled by (2) in $\mathbf{PSL}_2(q)$ for q even.
- (2) Assume \mathcal{O} is a class different from the one labeled by (3) in $\mathbf{PSL}_3(2)$. Then \mathcal{O} is represented by an element in \mathbb{U}_β where β is either the highest root in Φ^+ or the highest short root in Φ^+ , so $F(\mathbb{U}_\beta) = \mathbb{U}_\beta$. If there are two such classes, then one of these is represented by $x_\beta(1)$.

\overline{G}	Class	q
$\overline{\mathbf{PSL}_2(q)}$	(2)	Even, or 9, or odd not a square
$PSL_3(2)$	(3)	2
$\mathbf{PSp}_{2n}(q), n \geq 2$	$W(1)^{n-1} \oplus V(2)$	Even
$\mathbf{PSp}_{2n}(q), n \geq 2$	$(2, 1^{2n-2})$	9, or odd not a square
$\mathbf{PSp}_4(q)$	W(2)	Even
$\mathbf{PSU}_n(q), n \ge 3$	$(2, 1^{n-2})$	Even

Table 1. Kthulhu unipotent classes

- (3) All classes in Table 1 are Fr_p -stable. Indeed, Fr_p being an automorphism of G, stabilizes the set of kthulhu classes and preserves the label and the order of the elements. If there are two classes with the same label, the one represented by $x_{\beta}(1)$ is clearly Fr_p -stable, therefore Fr_p must stabilize the second one, too.
- (4) Let q be even. When n=2, the non-standard graph automorphism interchanging long and short roots in $\mathbf{PSp}_4(q)$ maps the class labeled by W(2) to the one labeled by $W(1) \oplus V(2)$. For any $n \geq 2$, there is only one class labeled by $W(1)^{n-1} \oplus V(2)$ in $\mathbf{PSp}_{2n}(q)$.
- (5) There is only one class labeled by $(2, 1^{n-2})$ in $\mathbf{PSU}_n(q)$ for q even. Indeed, let $u \in \mathbf{SU}_n(q)$ have label $(2, 1^{n-2})$. Then u is conjugate in $\mathbf{GU}_n(q)$ to $x_\beta(1)$. Since every element in $\mathbf{GU}_n(q)$ is the product of a diagonal matrix d fixed by F and a matrix in $\mathbf{SU}_n(q)$, u is conjugate in $\mathbf{SU}_n(q)$ to an element in \mathbb{U}^F_{β} . A direct computation shows that $\mathbb{U}^F_{\beta} = \mathbb{U}^{\mathrm{Fr}_q}_{\beta}$ and that all nontrivial elements in $\mathbb{U}^{\mathrm{Fr}_q}_{\beta}$ are conjugate to $x_\beta(1)$ by a matrix in $\mathbf{SU}_n(q)$ of the form $\mathrm{diag}(\eta, 1, \ldots, 1, \eta^{-1})$ for $\eta \in \mathbb{F}^x_{\beta}$.
- (6) Some of the groups occurring in the table are not simple. We need to consider them to implement an induction procedure.

We also recall, for the purpose of application of Theorem 2.6, that unipotent conjugacy classes in a simple group of Lie type $G = \mathbb{G}^F_{sc}/Z(\mathbb{G}^F_{sc})$ are isomorphic as racks to the corresponding unipotent conjugacy class in \mathbb{G}^F for any \mathbb{G} isogenous to \mathbb{G}_{sc} .

2.10. Results on products of racks

Another approach for detecting non-kthulhu conjugacy classes is to find subracks isomorphic to a product of conjugacy classes in a smaller group and apply results from [2,3]. With this in mind, we will make use of the following Lemma.

Lemma 2.8. [2, Lemma 2.10] Let \mathcal{O} be a conjugacy class in a finite group M containing a subrack of the form $X_1 \times X_2$ such that

there are
$$x_1, x_2 \in X_1$$
 such that $(x_1x_2)^2 \neq (x_2x_1)^2$, (2.5)

there are
$$y_1 \neq y_2 \in X_2$$
 such that $y_1 y_2 = y_2 y_1$. (2.6)

Then \mathcal{O} is of type D.

G	Class	q	
$\mathbf{PSL}_2(q)$	(2)	2, 3	
$ \mathbf{PSL}_2(q) \\ \mathbf{PSU}_3(q) $	(2, 1)	2	

Table 2. Kthulhu unipotent classes not satisfying (2.6)

In order to apply Lemma 2.8, we determine which unipotent conjugacy classes satisfy (2.5) or (2.6).

Lemma 2.9. If X_1 is a conjugacy class occurring in Table 1, then it satisfies (2.5). If X_2 is a class occurring in Table 1 but not in Table 2, then it satisfies (2.6). In particular, if \mathcal{O} is a conjugacy class of a finite group M containing a subrack isomorphic to a product of unipotent conjugacy classes in Chevalley or Steinberg groups, not both listed in Table 2, then \mathcal{O} is not kthulhu.

Proof. Let $\overline{\mathcal{O}}$ be the class in $\operatorname{PSU}_n(q)$ occurring in Table 1. For all conjugacy classes occurring in Table 1 different from $\overline{\mathcal{O}}$, conditions (2.5) and (2.6) are proved in [5, Lemma 3.5]. Assume $X_1 = \overline{\mathcal{O}}$. We set $x_1 = \operatorname{id}_n + e_{1,n}$, $\sigma := e_{1,n} + e_{n,1} + \sum_{i \neq 1,n} e_{i,i}$, $x_2 := \sigma \triangleright x_1$ and (2.5) holds. We now prove (2.6) for $X_2 = \overline{\mathcal{O}}$ and $(n,q) \neq (3,2)$. Let ζ be a generator of $\mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times}$. If n=3 and q>2 we take

$$d = \operatorname{diag}(\zeta, \zeta^{q-1}, \zeta^{-q}), \qquad y_1 = \operatorname{id}_3 + e_{1,3}, \qquad y_2 = d \triangleright y_1.$$

If n > 3, we take $\sigma := e_{1,2} + e_{2,1} + e_{n-1,n} + e_{n,n-1} + \sum_{i \in \mathbb{I}_{3,n-2}} e_{i,i}$, $y_1 = \mathrm{id}_n + e_{1,n}$ and $y_2 := \sigma \triangleright y_1$. This settles the first statement.

Let now $X = X_1 \times X_2 \subset \mathcal{O}$ with X_i for i = 1, 2 isomorphic to a product of unipotent classes in Chevalley or Steinberg groups. If X_1 or X_2 is not in Table 1, then X is not kthulhu. If X_1 nd X_2 are in Table 1 and X_2 is not in Table 2, then the statement follows from the preceding and Lemma 2.8.

Lemma 2.10. Let $\mathcal{O} \neq \mathcal{O}' \subset \mathbb{G}^F$ be unipotent conjugacy classes in Table 1 corresponding to the same label. If $q \neq 3$, then there exist $x_1 \in \mathcal{O}$, $x_2 \in \mathcal{O}'$ such that $(x_1x_2)^2 \neq (x_2x_1)^2$. If q = 3, then there exist $x_1 \in \mathcal{O}$, $x_2 \in \mathcal{O}'$ such that $x_1x_2 \neq x_2x_1$.

Proof. By Remark 2.7 (1) and (5) the classes \mathcal{O} and \mathcal{O}' occur either in $\mathbf{PSL}_2(q)$ or in $\mathbf{PSp}_{2n}(q)$. By Remark 2.7 (2) we may assume $x_{\beta}(1) \in \mathcal{O}$ for β the highest root or the highest short root in Φ^+ and $y_1 \in \mathcal{O}' \cap \mathbb{U}_{\beta}^F$. Let \dot{s}_{β} be a representative of s_{β} in $N_{\mathbb{G}^F}(\mathbb{T})$ and let $\dot{s}_{\beta} \triangleright y_1 = x_{-\beta}(\xi) \in \mathcal{O}' \cap \mathbb{U}_{-\beta}^F$. A computation in $\langle \mathbb{U}_{\beta}, \mathbb{U}_{-\beta} \rangle$ shows that $x_{\beta}(1)x_{-\beta}(\xi) \neq x_{-\beta}(\xi)x_{\beta}(1)$ always and that $(x_{\beta}(1)x_{-\beta}(\xi))^2 \neq (x_{-\beta}(\xi)x_{\beta}(1))^2$ if and only if $\xi(2+\xi) \neq 0$. A direct verification in $\mathbf{SL}_2(q)$ and $\mathbf{Sp}_{2n}(q)$ shows that if $q \neq 3$, then \dot{s}_{β} can always be chosen in such a way that ξ satisfies the latter condition. We take $x_1 = x_{\beta}(1)$ and $x_2 = \dot{s}_{\beta} \triangleright y_1$. \square

Remark 2.11. The inequalities in Lemmata 2.9 and 2.10 can be written as inequalities between unipotent elements. Since the restriction of an isogeny to unipotent elements is an isomorphism, such inequalities hold independently of the isogeny type of \mathbb{G} .

3. Mixed classes

In this Section we introduce some reduction techniques in order to deal with mixed classes. From now on $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{G}_{sc}$ is simply-connected and $G \neq \mathbf{PSL}_n(q)$, since these last groups have been treated in [2].

Let $x \in G$ and let $x \in \mathbb{G}^F$ such that $\pi(x) = x$, with Chevalley-Jordan decomposition $x = x_s x_u$. Then x has Chevalley-Jordan decomposition $x = x_s x_u$ with $x_s = \pi(x_s)$, $x_u = \pi(x_u)$. We assume that \mathcal{O}_x^G is mixed, that is x_s , $x_u \neq 1$. By construction x_u belongs to $\mathcal{K} := C_{\mathbb{G}}(x_s) \cap \mathbb{G}^F$, thus $x_u \in K := \pi(\mathcal{K})$.

We recall the morphisms of racks from [2, Lemma 1.2]

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}_u}^{\mathcal{K}} \simeq \mathcal{O}_{x_u}^{\mathcal{K}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{x}^{\mathcal{G}},$$
 (3.1)

where the isomorphism follows from injectivity of the restriction of the isogeny $\mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{G}/Z(\mathbb{G})$ to unipotent elements. This motivates the quest for classes $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\mathbb{G}^F}$ such that $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{X}_u}^{\mathcal{K}}$ is not kthulhu and a better understanding of the group \mathcal{K} . For the latter we will use [10].

3.1. Classes in centralisers of semisimple elements

By the discussion in Sect. 2.4, we may assume that $x_s = gtg^{-1}$ for some $t \in \mathbb{T}$, and some $g \in \mathbb{G}$ such that $g^{-1}F(g) = \dot{w} \in N_{\mathbb{G}^{\mathrm{Fr}_q}}(\mathbb{T})$. Let $\mathbb{H} := C_{\mathbb{G}}(t)$. By [20, 2.2], \mathbb{H} is connected and reductive, so $\mathbb{H} = Z(\mathbb{H})^{\circ}[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]$, it is given by

$$\mathbb{H} = \langle \mathbb{T}, \mathbb{U}_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Phi, \alpha(t) = 1 \rangle.$$

and $\operatorname{Fr}_q \mathbb{H} = C_{\mathbb{G}}(t^q) = \mathbb{H}$. Since $\Phi_t := \{\alpha \in \Phi \mid \alpha(t) = 1\}$ is W-conjugate to a root system with base a subset of $\widetilde{\Delta}$, [23, Proposition 30], up to replacing t by $\dot{\sigma} \triangleright t$, g by $g\dot{\sigma}^{-1}$ and \dot{w} by $\dot{\sigma}\dot{w}F(\dot{\sigma}^{-1})$ for $\dot{\sigma}$ a suitable element in $N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T})$, we may always assume that Φ_t has a base Π contained in $\widetilde{\Delta}$. The subset Π is unique up to W-action.

If $\operatorname{Ad}(\dot{w})^{-1}(t) = F(t)$, then $\operatorname{Ad}(h\dot{w})^{-1}(t) = F(t)$ for every $h \in \mathbb{H}$, so \dot{w} could be replaced by $\dot{\sigma}\dot{w} \in \mathbb{G}^{\operatorname{Fr}_q}$ for any $\dot{\sigma} \in N_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{T})$ and w could be replaced by σw , for $\sigma \in N_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathbb{T})/\mathbb{T} = W_{\Pi}$, the group generated by the reflections with respect to roots in Π .

Let $F_w := Ad(\dot{w}) \circ F$. Then \mathbb{H} is F_w -stable and

$$\mathcal{K} = (g \mathbb{H} g^{-1})^F = g \mathbb{H}^{F_w} g^{-1},$$

[3, Remark 2.5(c)]. By uniqueness of the Chevalley-Jordan decomposition, x_u lies in $(g[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]g^{-1})^F = g[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]^{F_w}g^{-1}$.

For the rest of the paper, we assume that $x = x_s x_u = gtvg^{-1}$ with $t \in \mathbb{T}$, $v \in [\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]^{F_w}$ and $x_s = gtg^{-1}$, $x_u = gvg^{-1}$.

This leads us to the following statement.

Lemma 3.1. With notation as above, if $\mathcal{O}_{v}^{[\mathbb{H},\mathbb{H}]^{F_{w}}}$ is not kthulhu, then \mathcal{O}_{x}^{G} is again so.

Proof. This follows from (3.1) and the inclusion
$$g \triangleright \mathcal{O}_v^{[\mathbb{H},\mathbb{H}]^{F_w}} \subset \mathcal{O}_{x_u}^{\mathcal{K}}$$
.

We explore now several conditions ensuring that the hypothesis of Lemma 3.1 is satisfied. In order to do so, we describe the structure of the F_w -stable and Fr_q -stable, hence $\operatorname{Ad}(\dot{w})\vartheta$ -stable, semisimple group $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]$. There exist uniquely determined Fr_q -stable simple algebraic subgroups $\mathbb{G}_i \leq [\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]$ for $j \in \mathbb{I}_r$ satisfying:

$$[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}] = \mathbb{G}_1 \cdots \mathbb{G}_r, \quad [\mathbb{G}_i, \mathbb{G}_j] = 1 \text{ if } i \neq j, \quad \mathbb{G}_i \cap \prod_{j \neq i} \mathbb{G}_j \subseteq Z([\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]).$$
(3.2)

We will denote by Φ_t^i the root system of \mathbb{G}_i with base $\Delta_i \subseteq \widetilde{\Delta}$. The automorphism $\mathrm{Ad}(\dot{w})\vartheta$ permutes the factors \mathbb{G}_i and the systems Φ_t^i , inducing a permutation of the indices $i \in \mathbb{I}_r$ which we denote by ω . By suitably rearranging the indices, we may assume that ω is a product of l disjoint cycles of the form $c_j = (i_j + 1, \ldots, i_j + a_j)$ with $\sum_j a_j = r$ and $i_j = \sum_{b=1}^{j-1} a_b$, so ω is completely determined by the $a_j, j \in \mathbb{I}_l$. Let $C_j := \{i_j + 1, \ldots, i_j + a_j\}$ and $\mathbb{H}_j := \prod_{l \in C_j} \mathbb{G}_l$. Then each \mathbb{H}_j is semisimple and F_w -stable, since it is Fr_q -stable and $\mathrm{Ad}(\dot{w})\vartheta$ -stable. As a consequence of (3.2) we have:

$$[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}] = \mathbb{H}_1 \cdots \mathbb{H}_l, \quad [\mathbb{H}_i, \mathbb{H}_j] = 1 \text{ if } i \neq j, \quad \mathbb{H}_i \cap \prod_{j \neq i} \mathbb{H}_j \subseteq Z([\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]).$$
(3.3)

The element v decomposes accordingly as $v = \prod_{j=1}^{l} v_j$ with $v_j \in \mathbb{H}_j$ unipotent. The equation

$$\prod_{j=1}^{l} F_w(v_j) = F_w(v) = v = \prod_{j=1}^{l} v_j$$

implies that $v_j F_w(v_j)^{-1} = z_j \in Z([\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}])$. Hence, $v_j = z_j F_w(v_j)$ with v_j , $F_w(v_j)$ unipotent, forcing $z_j = 1$ for every $j \in \mathbb{I}_l$. Thus, $v \in \prod_{j=1}^l \mathbb{H}_j^{F_w}$.

We analyse now the structure of $\mathbb{H}_{j}^{F_{w}}$, for $j \in \mathbb{I}_{l}$. For simplicity, we assume for the moment that l=1, so $v=v_{1}$. We set $a:=a_{1}$. Let u_{k} be the (unipotent) component of v in \mathbb{G}_{k} . Since v is F_{w} -invariant, we have

$$\prod_{j=1}^{a} u_j = v = F_w(v) = \prod_{j=1}^{a} F_w(u_j), \quad F_w(u_j) \in \mathbb{G}_{j+1}, \ j \in \mathbb{I}_{a-1}, \quad F_w(u_a) \in \mathbb{G}_1.$$

By (3.2) and the unipotency of the u_j we have

$$u_j = F_w^{j-1}(u_1), \ j \in \mathbb{I}_{1,a}$$
 $F_w^a(u_1) = u_1.$ (3.4)

In other words, v lies in the subgroup G_1 of \mathbb{H}_1 consisting of elements whose components satisfy (3.4). Projection onto the first component induces an isomorphism $G_1 \simeq \mathbb{G}_1^{F_w^a}$. Since, by construction, $\operatorname{Fr}_q(\dot{w}) = \dot{w}$, we have

$$F_w^a = (\mathrm{Ad}(\dot{w})\vartheta)^a \circ \mathrm{Fr}_a^a$$

where $(\mathrm{Ad}(\dot{w})\vartheta)^a$ is an automorphism of the simple algebraic group \mathbb{G}_1 and F_w^a is a Steinberg endomorphism of \mathbb{G}_1 . The corresponding finite simple group will be Chevalley or Steinberg according to whether $(\mathrm{Ad}(\dot{w})\vartheta)^a$ is an inner automorphism of \mathbb{G}_1 or not [26, 10.9].

If l>1, a similar analysis shows that $v\in\prod_{j=1}^lG_j$ where $G_j\simeq\mathbb{G}_{i_j+1}^{F_w^{a_j}}$. Thus, the rack $\mathcal{O}_v^{[\mathbb{H},\mathbb{H}]^{F_w}}$ contains the subrack $\mathcal{O}_v^{\prod_jG_j}$ which is isomorphic to $\prod_j\mathcal{O}_{v_j}^{G_j}$. Each component is a unipotent conjugacy class among those studied in [2–5]. By abuse of notation we will identify G_j and $\mathbb{G}_{i_j+1}^{F_w^{J_j}}$ and v_j with its component in $\mathbb{G}_{i_j+1}^{F_w^{J_j}}$. Let $\mathbb{J}_v:=\{j\in\mathbb{I}_l\mid v_j\neq 1\}$.

Lemma 3.2. Assume that one of the following conditions holds for \mathcal{O}_x^G :

- (1) For some $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$, the class $\mathcal{O}_{v_j}^{G_j}$ is not in Table 1,
- (2) $|\mathbb{J}_v| \geq 2$ and for some $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$, $\mathcal{O}_{v_j}^{G_j}$ is not in Table 2.

Then \mathcal{O}_{x}^{G} is not kthulhu.

Proof. (1) The rack $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}_u}^{\mathcal{K}}$ contains $\mathcal{O}_{v_j}^{G_j}$ which is not kthulhu. (2) The rack $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}_u}^{\mathcal{K}}$ contains a subrack satisfying the hypothesis of Lemma 2.9.

3.2. Subracks obtained by the action of the Weyl group

From now on we assume that we are in the following situation: either

$$|\mathbb{J}_{v}| = 1$$
 and $\mathcal{O}_{v_{1}}^{G_{1}}$ occurs in Table 1, or (3.5)

$$|\mathbb{J}_v| \ge 2$$
 and for every $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$ the rack $\mathcal{O}_{v_j}^{G_j}$ occurs in Table 2. (3.6)

The latter case occurs only when $q^{a_j} \in \{2,3\}$ for every $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$, whence $\omega(j) = j$ for every $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$. Observe that if $(w\theta)^{a_j}(\Phi_t^j \cap \Phi^+) = \Phi_t^j \cap \Phi^+$ for some $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$, then we may always assume $v_j \in \mathbb{U}$. In particular, if $q \neq 2$ and $w\theta$ acts trivially on Φ_t^j , then by Remark 2.7 we may take $v_j \in \mathbb{U}_\beta^F$ for β the highest root or the highest short root in Φ_t^j .

Remark 3.3. In order to deal with mixed classes satisfying (3.5) or (3.6), we need to look at subracks of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathbb{G}^F}$ that are different from those in Lemma 3.2. Since for every F_w -stable subgroup \mathbb{M} of \mathbb{G} , we have $(g\mathbb{M}g^{-1})^F=g\mathbb{M}^{F_w}g^{-1}$, we have the rack isomorphism

$$g \triangleright_{-} : \mathcal{O}_{tv}^{\mathbb{G}^{F_w}} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathbb{G}^F},$$
 (3.7)

and we will mainly perform calculations in \mathbb{G}^{F_w} . We will often make use of the fact that any σ in the centraliser $C_W(w\theta)$ has a representative in $N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap \mathbb{G}^{F_w}$, [21, Proposition 25.3]. In addition $Z(\mathbb{G}^F) = Z(\mathbb{G}^{F_w})$ so the isomorphism of racks (3.7) is compatible with the isogeny $\mathbb{G}_{sc} \to \mathbb{G}_{ad}$.

Lemma 3.4. Assume that there exists $\sigma \in W$ such that:

- (1) $\sigma \in C_W(w\theta)$;
- (2) $\sigma(\mathbb{H}_i) = \mathbb{H}_i$ for some $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$;
- (3) $\sigma(t) \notin Z(\mathbb{G}^F)t$.

Then $\mathcal{O}_x^{\mathbf{G}}$ is not kthulhu.

Proof. Observe that the subgroup $\sigma \mathbb{H}_j$ is well-defined because \mathbb{H}_j is normalized by \mathbb{T} . Let $\dot{\sigma} \in N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap \mathbb{G}^{F_w}$ be a representative of σ . Let

$$X := t\mathcal{O}_{v}^{\mathbb{H}^{F_{w}}},$$
 and $Y := \dot{\sigma} \triangleright X = \sigma(t)\mathcal{O}_{\dot{\sigma} \triangleright v}^{\mathbb{H}^{F_{w}}}.$

Condition (3) ensures that $X \cap Y = \emptyset$ and that the restriction of π to $X \coprod Y$ is injective. By Condition (1), $\sigma(t)$ commutes with $\sigma(\mathbb{H}_j) = \mathbb{H}_j$, whence with G_j . In addition, \mathbb{H}_j commutes with all \mathbb{H}_i and $\sigma(\mathbb{H}_i)$ for $i \neq j$, hence it commutes with the subgroup they generate. Thus, in order to verify the non-commutation of elements in X and Y it is enough to look at the components in $\mathcal{O}_{v_j}^{G_j}$ and $\mathcal{O}_{\dot{\sigma} \triangleright v_j}^{G_j}$. For this reason we assume for simplicity that $\mathbb{J}_v = \{1\}$, so $v = v_j = v_1$. Notice that $\dot{\sigma} \triangleright v \in G_1$ has the same label as v.

- (a) Assume q even. Since v and $\dot{\sigma} \triangleright v$ have the same label, $\dot{\sigma} \triangleright v \in \mathcal{O}_v^{G_1}$ by Remark 2.7. By Lemma 2.9 applied to $\mathcal{O}_v^{G_1}$, there exist $x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{O}_v^{G_1}$ such that $(x_1x_2)^2 \neq (x_2x_1)^2$. Then, for $r := tx_1 \in X$ and $s := \sigma(t)x_2 \in Y$ we have $\mathcal{O}_r^{(r,s)} \subseteq X$, $\mathcal{O}_s^{(r,s)} \subseteq Y$ and $(rs)^2 \neq (sr)^2$. This shows that $\mathcal{O}_x^{\mathbb{G}^F}$ is of type D.
- (b) Assume q odd. Either by Lemma 2.9 or by Lemma 2.10, there exists $v' \in \mathcal{O}_{\dot{\sigma} \triangleright v}^{G_1}$ such that $vv' \neq v'v$. Let

$$r = tv \in X,$$
 $s = \sigma(t)v' \in Y,$ $H := \langle r, s \rangle = \langle t, \sigma(t), v, v' \rangle.$

By construction, $t, \sigma(t) \in Z(H), rs \neq sr, \mathcal{O}_r^H \subset X, \mathcal{O}_s^H \subset Y, \text{ so } \mathcal{O}_r^H \cap \mathcal{O}_s^H = \emptyset$. Also, $H \leq \langle \mathcal{O}_r^H, \mathcal{O}_s^H \rangle \leq H$. Finally, v and v' are p-elements, so $v, v' \triangleright v$ and $(v')^2 \triangleright v$ are all distinct, hence

$$\left|\mathcal{O}_r^H\right| = \left|t\mathcal{O}_v^H\right| = \left|\mathcal{O}_v^H\right| = \left|\mathcal{O}_v^{\langle v, v'\rangle}\right| \ge 3$$

and similarly for $|\mathcal{O}_s^H|$.

Since \mathcal{O}_{χ}^{G} contains the subrack $\pi(X \coprod Y) \simeq X \coprod Y$, from the discussion above it follows that \mathcal{O}_{χ}^{G} is of type D or C.

Remark 3.5. Conditions (1) and (2) from Lemma 3.4 are verified in the following situations:

- (a) $\theta = \operatorname{id}$ or $\theta = -w_0$ and $\sigma = w_{\theta}^{-1}$. Here $\sigma(t) = t^{\pm q}$.
- (b) $w_0 = -1$ and $\sigma = w_0$. Here $\sigma(t) = t^{-1}$.

In the above situations, $C_{\mathbb{G}}(\sigma(t)) = \mathbb{H}$, so (2) holds for any $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$.

Lemma 3.6. Assume that one of the following conditions holds

- (1) **G** is Chevalley and $t^q \notin Z(\mathbb{G}^F)t$.
- (2) **G** is Steinberg with $\theta = -w_0$ and $t^{-q} \notin Z(\mathbb{G}^F)t$.
- (3) $w_0 = -1$ and $t^2 \notin Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$.

Then O is not kthulhu.

Proof. It is a direct consequence of Lemma 3.4 and Remark 3.5 because $w_{\theta}^{-1}(t) = t^q$ when $\theta = \operatorname{id}$ and $w_{\theta}^{-1}(t) = t^{-q}$ when $\theta = -w_0$.

The following remark will be useful to locate the cases in which the hypotheses of Lemma 3.4 or, more specifically, 3.6 do not hold.

Remark 3.7. Let $\tau \in W$ and $s = \prod_{i \in \mathbb{I}_{\ell}} \alpha_i^{\vee}(\xi_i) \in \mathbb{T}$. We set

$$\mathbb{I}_{(\tau)} = \{i \in \mathbb{I}_{\ell} \mid s_i \text{ occurs in a reduced decomposition of } \tau\}, \text{ and } \mathbb{I}^{(s)} = \{i \in \mathbb{I}_{\ell} \mid \xi_i \neq 1\}.$$

We recall that $\mathbb{I}_{(\tau)}$ does not depend on the chosen reduced decomposition and that the coefficients ξ_i are uniquely determined.

- (1) For τ and s as above, $\tau(s) \in s \prod_{i \in \mathbb{I}_{(\tau)}} \alpha_i^{\vee}(\mathbb{k})$.
- (2) If for some $\sigma \in W$, $z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ and $t \in \mathbb{T}$ we have $\sigma(t) = zt$ then $\mathbb{I}^{(z)} \subseteq \mathbb{I}_{(\sigma)}$.
- (3) In the special case in which $\theta = \operatorname{id}$ or $\theta = -w_0$, $z \in Z(\mathbb{G}_{sc}^F) 1$ and $t \in \mathbb{T}^{F_w}$ satisfy $w_{\theta}^{-1}(t) = zt$, we necessarily have $\mathbb{I}^{(z)} \subseteq \mathbb{I}_{(w_{\theta})}$.

Proposition 3.8. Assume q is even and Φ is of type A_1 , B_n , C_n , D_{2m} , E_7 , E_8 , F_4 or G_2 . Then \mathcal{O}_x^G is not kthulhu.

Proof. In this case $w_0 = -1$ and ord t is odd. By Lemma 3.6 the statement could fail only if $t^2 \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$, but this would force $t \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ contradicting our assumption on x_s .

We end this Subsection with a lemma that will be useful to discuss some of the cases not covered by Lemmata 3.2, 3.6 or Proposition 3.8, both in Chevalley and Steinberg groups.

Lemma 3.9. Let $\{\beta_i, i \in \mathbb{I}_3\} \subset \Phi$ be the base of a root subsystem of type A_3 such that

- (1) $\{\beta_1, \beta_3\} \subset \Phi_t$ and $\{\beta_1, \beta_3\}$ is $w\theta$ -stable;
- (2) \mathbb{U}_{β_2} is F_w -stable and $\beta_2 \notin \Phi_t$;
- (3) $v \in ((\mathbb{U}_{\beta_1} 1)\mathbb{U}_{\beta_3})^{F_w}$.

Then $\mathcal{O}_{\chi}^{\mathbf{G}}$ is of type C.

Proof. Let $\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}=\langle\mathbb{U}_{\beta_i},\ i\in\mathbb{I}_3\rangle$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb{B}}=\mathbb{T}\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}$. Then $\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb{B}}$ are F_w -stable as well as Fr_q -stable. Let $r:=tv=tx_{\beta_1}(\xi)x_{\beta_3}(\xi')\in t\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}$ for $\xi\in\mathbb{k}^\times,\ \xi'\in\mathbb{k}$. Since $w\theta(\beta_2)=\beta_2$ we have $w\theta s_{\beta_2}=s_{\beta_2}w\theta$ so we may find a representative \dot{s}_{β_2} of s_{β_2} in $\mathbb{G}^{F_w}\cap N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T})$. We set: $t'=\dot{s}_{\beta_2}\rhd t,\ v':=\dot{s}_{\beta_2}\rhd v=x_{\beta_1+\beta_2}(\zeta)x_{\beta_2+\beta_3}(\zeta')$ for some $\zeta\in\mathbb{k}^\times$ and $\zeta'\in\mathbb{k}$, and $s:=\dot{s}_{\beta_2}\rhd r=t'v'\in t'\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}$. Since $\langle r,s\rangle\subset\widetilde{\mathbb{B}}$, then

 $\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle} \subset t\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}$ and $\mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle} \subset t'\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}$. In addition, since $s_{\beta_2}(\beta_1) \notin \Phi_t$ by (2), it follows that $C_{\mathbb{G}}(t') \neq \mathbb{H}$ so $t' \notin Z(\mathbb{G})t$. Therefore, $\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle}) \cap \pi(\mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle}) = \emptyset$. Since $(\beta_1 + \beta_2)(\pi(t)) = (\beta_1 + \beta_2)(t) \neq 1$ and $\beta_1(\pi(t')) = \beta_1(t') \neq 1$, by (2.1) the inequalities (2.4) in Lemma 2.5 hold for $y = \pi(r)$ and $z = \pi(s)$. Hence, $\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{\mathbb{G}^F})$ is of type C.

4. Mixed classes in Chevalley groups

In this Section, $F = \operatorname{Fr}_q$ and Φ is not of type A_n . We keep the notation introduced in Sect. 3.

By Lemma 3.6 and Proposition 3.8 it remains to deal with the cases $x_s^2 \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ if $w_0 = -1$ and q is odd, and $x_s^{q-1} \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ if $w_0 \neq -1$. In the latter situation q > 2 because $x_s \notin Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$. In other words, we have to deal with the following cases:

- (1) Φ of type B_{ℓ} , $\ell \geq 3$; C_{ℓ} , $\ell \geq 2$; D_{2n} , $n \geq 2$; E_7 ; E_8 ; F_4 ; G_2 ; q is odd and $\mathbf{x}_s^2 \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ (every $z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ has order ≤ 2) [21, Table 24.2];
- (2) Φ of type D_{2n+1} , $n \ge 2$; E_6 and $\mathbf{x}_s^{q-1} \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ (here $|Z(\mathbb{G}^F)| \le 4$); and v satisfies either (3.5) or (3.6).

4.1. The case $x_s \in \mathbb{T}^F$

We recall from Sect. 2.5 that if $x_s^{q-1} = 1$, then $t \in \mathbb{T}^F$ and we may assume $x_s = t \in \mathbb{T}^F$. We now deal with this situation.

Lemma 4.1. Let $x_s \in \mathbb{T}^F - Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$. By Sect. 2.7 there always exists $\alpha \in \Delta$ such that $s_{\alpha}(x_s) \neq x_s$. Assume that we are not in the situation:

$$\mathbb{G}$$
 is of type B_{ℓ} , q is odd, t satisfies $s_{\alpha_j}(t) \neq t \iff j = \ell$. (4.1)

Then the root α can be chosen so that $s_{\alpha}(x_s) \notin x_s Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$.

Proof. The statement follows when \mathbb{G} is of type E_8 , F_4 , G_2 , because $Z(\mathbb{G}) = Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ is trivial in these cases. In the general case, assume that $s_{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_s) \stackrel{\star}{=} z\mathbf{x}_s$ for some $z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F) - 1$. Applying s_{α} , we get $z^2 = 1$. Thus \mathbb{G} is not of type E_6 (here $Z(\mathbb{G}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/3$) and q should be odd. By \star , we have

$$\omega_i(\mathbf{x}_s) = \omega_i(zs_\alpha(\mathbf{x}_s)) = \omega_i(z)s_\alpha(\omega_i)(\mathbf{x}_s), \qquad \forall i \in \mathbb{I}_\ell.$$
 (4.2)

Say $\alpha = \alpha_j$, $j \in \mathbb{I}_{\ell}$. If $i \neq j$ then $s_{\alpha}(\omega_i) = \omega_i$, hence $\omega_i(z) = 1$. Now such z exists only if we are in (4.1), see the description of $Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ in Table 3.

Lemma 4.2. Let $x_s \in \mathbb{T}^F - Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$, let $\alpha \in \Delta$ be as in Sect. 2.7, and let \mathbb{P} be the minimal standard F-stable parabolic subgroup with standard Levi complement \mathbb{L} associated with α . Let $L = \mathbb{L}^F$. Then $\mathcal{O}_{x_s}^L$ is of type C.

Туре	$Z(\mathbb{G}_{sc}^F)$
$\overline{B_\ell}$	$\langle lpha_\ell^ee(-1) angle$
$C_{\ell}, \ell > 2$	$\left\langle \prod_{i \text{ odd}} \alpha_i^{\vee}(-1) \right\rangle$
$D_\ell, \ell \in 2\mathbb{Z}$	$\left\langle \prod_{i \text{ odd}} \alpha_i^{\vee}(-1), \alpha_{\ell-1}^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_{\ell}^{\vee}(-1) \right\rangle$
$D_{\ell}, \ell \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1, q \equiv 1(4)$	$\left\langle \prod_{\substack{i \text{ odd} \leq \ell-2}} \alpha_i^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_{\ell-1}^{\vee}(\zeta)\alpha_{\ell}^{\vee}(\zeta^3) \right\rangle$
$D_{\ell}, \ell \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1, q \equiv 3(4)$	$\langle \alpha_{\ell-1}^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_{\ell}^{\vee}(-1)\rangle$
$E_6, q \equiv 1(3)$	$\langle \alpha_1^{\vee}(\omega)\alpha_3^{\vee}(\omega^2)\alpha_5^{\vee}(\omega)\alpha_6^{\vee}(\omega^2) \rangle$
$E_6, q \not\equiv 1(3)$	1
E_7	$\langle \alpha_2^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_5^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_7^{\vee}(-1)\rangle$

Table 3. Center of \mathbb{G}_{sc}^F , q odd; $\zeta, \omega \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$, $|\zeta| = 4$, $|\omega| = 3$

Proof. Let $X_1 = x_s \mathbb{U}^F_{\alpha}$ and $X_2 = s_{\alpha}(x_s) \mathbb{U}^F_{\alpha}$. Then $X_1 = \mathbb{U}^F_{\alpha} \triangleright x_s = \mathbb{U}^F_{\alpha} \times_s$ and $X_2 = \mathbb{U}^F_{\alpha} \triangleright s_{\alpha}(x_s) = \mathbb{U}^F_{\alpha} s_{\alpha}(x_s)$, using (2.1) and $\alpha(s_{\alpha}(x_s)) \neq 1$. Hence, $X_i \triangleright X_j = X_j$ for $i, j \in \mathbb{I}_2$. Set $\mathcal{Y} = X_1 \cup X_2$. Note that $\langle \mathcal{Y} \rangle = \langle x_s, s_{\alpha}(x_s), \mathbb{U}^F_{\alpha} \rangle \subseteq L$. Then $X_1 \cap X_2 = \emptyset$, $x_s \in X_1 = \mathcal{O}^{\langle \mathcal{Y} \rangle}_{x_s}$, $s_{\alpha}(x_s) \in X_2 = \mathcal{O}^{\langle \mathcal{Y} \rangle}_{s_{\alpha}(x_s)}$ and $|X_1| = |X_2| = q > 2$. Taking $r = x_s$ and $s = s_{\alpha}(x_s)x_{\alpha}(1)$, we conclude that \mathcal{Y} is of type C.

Lemma 4.3. If $\mathbf{x}_s \in \mathbb{T}^F - Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ and we are not in the situation (4.1), then \mathcal{O}_x^G is not kthulhu.

Proof. In this case we take g, $\dot{w}=1$, so $\mathbb{H}_i=\mathbb{G}_i$ for all $i\in\mathbb{I}_r$ (cf. Sects. 2.4, 3.1). Recall that v satisfies either (3.5) or (3.6). Since $\dot{w}=1$, the class in $\mathbf{PSU}_n(q)$ does not occur because $\mathbf{PSU}_n(q)$ does not occur in the decomposition of $[\mathbb{H},\mathbb{H}]^F$, see Sect. 3.1. Also, we may assume that q>2, as the classes in groups over \mathbb{F}_2 occur only for $\mathbf{x}_s=1$ Thus, each component in $v=\mathbf{x}_u$ can be chosen to lie in a \mathbb{U}_β^F for some $\beta\in\Phi^+$ such that $\beta(\mathbf{x}_s)=1$. By the hypothesis on \mathbf{x}_s , there is $\alpha\in\Delta$ as in Lemma 4.1. Let \mathbb{P} be the standard F-stable parabolic subgroup with standard Levi complement \mathbb{L} associated with α , and let $P=\mathbb{P}^F$, $L=\mathbb{L}^F$. Then for $\pi_L:P\to L$ we have that $\pi_L(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}_s\mathbf{x}_u}^P)=\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}_s}^L$ is of type \mathbb{C} by Lemma 4.2. Let \mathcal{Y} as in the proof of Lemma 4.2 and let

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{X}_{1}' &:= \pi_{L}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}_{1}) \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}}^{P} = \mathbf{x}_{s} \mathbb{U}^{F} \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}}^{P}, \\ \mathbf{X}_{2}' &:= \pi_{L}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}_{2}) \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}}^{P} = s_{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{s}) \mathbb{U}^{F} \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}}^{P}, \\ \mathcal{Y}' &:= \pi_{L}^{-1}(\mathcal{Y}) \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}}^{P} = \mathbf{X}_{1}' \cup \mathbf{X}_{2}'. \end{aligned}$$

Let $\pi: \mathbb{G}^F \to G$ be the isogeny and let $a \neq b \in \mathcal{Y}'$ such that $\pi(a) = \pi(b)$, i.e. there is $z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$, $z \neq 1$, such a = zb. Hence either $a = x_s u$ and $b = s_\alpha(x_s)v$ for some $u, v \in \mathbb{U}^F$, or vice versa. In any case, $x_s = zs_\alpha(x_s)$, impossible by our choice of α . Hence, the restriction of π to \mathcal{Y}' is injective and \mathcal{O}_x^G is of type C. \square

In the next lemma we deal with the case in which $x_s \in \mathbb{T}^F - Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ is as in (4.1). Then x_s has the form

$$\mathbf{x}_s = \left(\prod_{i \in \mathbb{I}_{\ell-1}} \alpha_i^{\vee}((-1)^i)\right) \alpha_{\ell}^{\vee}(\eta), \quad \text{where } \eta^2 = (-1)^{\ell}. \tag{4.3}$$

Notice that if ℓ is odd, then such an x_s belongs to \mathbb{G}^F if and only if $q \equiv 1(4)$.

We shall also need a realization of the symplectic group $\mathbf{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{k})$ for q odd. We choose it to be the subgroup of $\mathbf{GL}_{2n}(\mathbb{k})$ consisting of matrices preserving the skew-symmetric bilinear form with associated matrix

$$\widetilde{J}_{2n} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & J_n \\ -J_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
, where $J_n = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$. (4.4)

When clear from the context, we shall omit the index n from J_n and \widetilde{J}_{2n} .

Lemma 4.4. Assume Φ is of type B_ℓ and q is odd. Let $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}_s \mathbf{x}_u$ with $\mathbf{x}_u \neq 1$ and \mathbf{x}_s is as in (4.1). Then \mathcal{O}_r^G is not kthulhu.

Proof. Here $\mathbb{H} = C_{\mathbb{G}}(x_s) = C_{\mathbb{G}}(t)$ is simple with Φ_t of type D_{ℓ} . As $\ell > 2$ is not compatible with (3.5) nor (3.6), we have $\ell = 2$, $\mathbb{G} \simeq \mathbf{Sp}_4(\mathbb{k})$ and $\mathbb{H} \simeq \mathbf{SL}_2(\mathbb{k}) \times \mathbf{SL}_2(\mathbb{k})$ is semisimple. Our assumptions on $x_u = v$ give either:

- (1) q = 9 or not a square and only one component of x_u in $\mathbf{SL}_2(\mathbb{k}) \times \mathbf{SL}_2(\mathbb{k})$ is non-trivial; or else
- (2) q = 3 and the two components of x_u in $SL_2(\mathbb{k}) \times SL_2(\mathbb{k})$ are non-trivial.

To deal with (1), we work in $\mathbb{G}^F = \mathbf{Sp}_4(9)$ for simplicity. In this case, \mathbb{B}^F is the subgroup of $\mathbf{Sp}_4(9)$ consisting of upper triangular matrices. Let $\pi: \mathbb{G}^F \to \mathbf{G}$. We take

$$\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}_s x_{\alpha_2}(a) = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & a & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad a \in \mathbb{F}_9^{\times}.$$

Let

$$\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad r = \sigma \triangleright \mathbf{x} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & a \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$x_{\alpha_1}(1) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad s = x_{\alpha_1}(1) \triangleright \mathbf{x} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 2 & a & a \\ 0 & 1 & a & a \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

A direct computation shows that $(\pi(r)\pi(s))^2 \neq (\pi(s)\pi(r))^2$. Also, $r, s \in \mathbb{B}^F = \mathbb{T}^F \mathbb{U}^F$ and, for $V = \langle \mathbb{U}^F_\beta | \beta \in \Phi^+ - \alpha_2 \rangle$ by Chevalley's commutator formula we have $\mathbb{B}^F \triangleright r \in \mathbb{T}^F V$ whereas $\mathbb{B}^F \triangleright s \in \mathbb{T}^F x_{\alpha_2}(\mathbb{F}_9^\times)V$. Hence, $\mathcal{O}_{\pi(r)}^{\langle \pi(r), \pi(s) \rangle} \neq \mathcal{O}_{\pi(s)}^{\langle \pi(r), \pi(s) \rangle}$ and \mathcal{O}_x^G is of type D.

There are 2 classes in case (2), namely the classes represented by

$$\mathbf{x}_a = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 & a & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad a \in \mathbb{F}_3^{\times}.$$

They lie in the same orbit for the conjugation action of the group of diagonal matrices $\operatorname{diag}(\xi, \eta, \lambda \xi^{-1}, \lambda \eta^{-1}), \text{ for } \xi, \ \eta \in \mathbb{F}_9^{\times}, \lambda \in \mathbb{F}_3^{\times} \text{ on } \mathbf{Sp}_4(q). \text{ Hence } \mathcal{O}_{x_1} \simeq \mathcal{O}_{x_2}. \text{ Let }$ $r := x_1$. With notation as in (1), let

$$r_1 = \sigma \triangleright r = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad s = x_{\alpha_1}(1) \triangleright r_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 2 & 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Again, $(\pi(r)\pi(s))^2 \neq (\pi(s)\pi(r))^2$. Also, $r, s \in \mathbb{B}^F$ and $\mathbb{B}^F \triangleright r \in \mathbb{T}^F x_{\alpha_2}(2)V$ whereas $\mathbb{B}^F \triangleright s \in \mathbb{T}^F x_{\alpha_2}(1)V$. Hence, $\mathcal{O}_{\pi(r)}^{\langle \pi(r), \pi(s) \rangle} \neq \mathcal{O}_{\pi(s)}^{\langle \pi(r), \pi(s) \rangle}$ so this class is of type D.

Proposition 4.5. Assume Φ and q fall into one of the following cases:

- (1) E_8 , F_4 , G_2 , q arbitrary;
- (2) E_6 and $q \not\equiv 1(3)$;
- (3) D_{2m+1} and q is even.

Then \mathcal{O}_{x}^{G} is not kthulhu.

Proof. In these cases, we have that $Z(\mathbb{G}^F) = 1$, see [21, Table 24.2]. Thus, by Sect. 2.5, the condition $x_s^{q-1} \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ reads $x_s \in \mathbb{T}^F$. This is dealt with in Lemma 4.3.

4.2. The remaining cases

According to the list at the beginning of Sect. 4, we are left with the following

Setting 4.6. $x_s^{q-1} = z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F) - \{1\}$; either (3.5) or (3.6) holds for v; and Φ , qand x_s satisfy:

- (1) C_{ℓ} , $\ell \ge 2$; $x_s^2 = z$, so q = 3(4); (2) B_{ℓ} , $\ell \ge 3$; $x_s^2 = z$, so q = 3(4); (3) D_{2n} , $n \ge 2$; $x_s^2 = z$, so q = 3(4);
- (4) E_7 ; $x_s^2 = z$, so $q \equiv 3(4)$;
- (5) D_{2n+1} , $n \ge 2$, q is odd;
- (6) E_6 , $q \equiv 1(3)$.

Assume that we are in either of the situations $(1), \ldots, (4)$. By Table 3, we must have that $q \equiv 3(4)$, since otherwise $x_s^{q-1} = 1$. Analogously, $q \equiv 1(3)$ if Φ is of

In what follows, we provide several technical remarks and lemmata to deal with these cases.

Remark 4.7. If Φ_t^j is of type A_1 with base $\Delta_j = \{\alpha_{j_1}\}$ and $\mathrm{Ad}(\dot{w})\mathbb{G}_j = \mathbb{G}_j$, then, by replacing w by $s_{\alpha_{j_1}}w$, we can always ensure that w acts trivially on Φ_t^j . Observe that this replacement does not affect the action of w on other subsets Δ_l , for $l \in \mathbb{J}_v - \{j\}$.

Lemma 4.8. Assume that (3.6) holds for v, that $\operatorname{Ad}(\dot{w})^{-1}(t) = t^q = zt \neq t$ with $z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$, and that w acts trivially on Φ_t^i for all $i \in \mathbb{J}_v$. If there exists $\alpha \in \Delta$ such that:

- (1) $s_{\alpha}w = ws_{\alpha}$;
- (2) $s_{\alpha}(\beta) \notin \Phi_t$ for some $\beta \in (\Phi_t^{i_0})^+$ and some $i_0 \in \mathbb{J}_v$ with $\beta \neq \alpha_0$;

then $\mathcal{O}_x^{\mathbf{G}}$ is of type C.

Proof. Note that in this situation $q \neq 2$. As $|\mathbb{J}_v| > 1$, we necessarily have q = 3 and Φ_t^i is of type A_1 for all $i \in \mathbb{J}_v$.

We set for simplicity $i_0=1$. Then $v_1\in\mathbb{H}_1=\mathbb{G}_1$, $G_1=\mathbb{G}_1^{\mathrm{Fr}_q}$, and since w acts trivially on Φ_t^1 we may assume that $v_1=x_\beta(\xi)$ for some $\xi\in\mathbb{F}_q^\times$.

Let $\Delta_1 \subset \Delta$ be the base of Φ_t^1 ; let $\widetilde{\Pi} = \Delta_1 \cup \{\alpha\}$; let \mathbb{P} be the F_w -stable standard parabolic subgroup of \mathbb{G} associated with $\widetilde{\Pi}$; \mathbb{V} be its unipotent radical and \mathbb{L} be the F_w -stable standard Levi subgroup. Up to conjugation in \mathbb{H}^{F_w} , we have that $v = x_\beta(\xi)v'$ for some $v' \in \mathbb{V}$. Let

$$r := tv = tx_{\beta}(\xi)v' \in tx_{\beta}(\xi)\mathbb{V}.$$

Condition (1) and [21, Proposition 25.3] applied to F_w ensure that there exists a representative $\dot{s}_{\alpha} \in N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap \mathbb{G}^{F_w}$. We set

$$s := \dot{s}_{\alpha} \triangleright r = s_{\alpha}(t)x_{s_{\alpha}\beta}(\zeta)v'' \in s_{\alpha}(t)x_{s_{\alpha}\beta}(\zeta)V$$

for some $\zeta \in \mathbb{k}^{\times}$ and some $v'' \in \mathbb{V}$, since $\dot{s}_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{L}$. Condition (2) ensures that $\alpha \notin \Phi_t$ so $s_{\alpha} \gamma \in \Phi^+$ for every $\gamma \in \Phi_t^+$. Hence, $\langle r, s \rangle \subset \mathbb{TU}$. Thus:

$$\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle} \subset \mathcal{O}_r^{\mathbb{TU}} \subset t\mathbb{U}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle} \subset \mathcal{O}_s^{\mathbb{TU}} \subset s_{\alpha}(t)\mathbb{U}.$$

Condition (2) also gives $s_{\alpha} \Phi_{t} \neq \Phi_{t}$ whence $\dot{s}_{\alpha} \notin N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{H})$. In particular, $\dot{s}_{\alpha} \notin \mathbb{H}$, so $s_{\alpha}(t) \neq t$ and therefore $\mathcal{O}_{r}^{\langle r,s \rangle} \cap \mathcal{O}_{s}^{\langle r,s \rangle} = \emptyset$. Since $\dot{s}_{\alpha} \notin N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{H})$, we have $s_{\alpha}(t) \notin Z(\mathbb{G})t$. Thus, the restriction of the isogeny to $\mathcal{O}_{r}^{\langle r,s \rangle} \coprod \mathcal{O}_{s}^{\langle r,s \rangle}$ is injective and $\pi\left(\mathcal{O}_{r}^{\langle r,s \rangle}\right) \cap \pi\left(\mathcal{O}_{s}^{\langle r,s \rangle}\right) = \emptyset$. As $\alpha(\pi(t)) = \alpha(t) \neq 1$ and $\beta(\pi(t')) = \beta(t') = \beta(s_{\alpha}(t)) = (s_{\alpha}\beta)(t) \neq 1$, by (2.1) the inequalities in Lemma 2.5 hold for $y = \pi(r)$ and $z = \pi(s)$. Hence, $\pi\left(\mathcal{O}_{r}^{\mathbb{G}^{F}}\right)$ is of type C, and consequently, \mathcal{O}_{x}^{G} is also of type C, by Remark 3.3.

Remark 4.9. If (3.5) holds for \mathcal{O}_x^G , $\operatorname{Ad}(\dot{w})^{-1}(t) = t^q = zt \neq t$ with $z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$, and w acts trivially on Φ_t^1 , then $q \neq 2$. By the discussion at the beginning of Sect. 3.2 we can always make sure that $v = v_1 = x_\beta(\xi)$ for some $\beta \in (\Phi_t^1)^+$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$.

Lemma 4.10. Assume $\operatorname{Ad}(\dot{w})^{-1}(t) = t^q = zt \neq t \text{ with } z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F), v = v_1 = x_{\beta}(\xi) \in G_1 \text{ for some } \beta \in (\Phi_t^1)^+ \text{ and } \xi \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}.$ If there exists $\alpha \in \Phi^+$ such that $s_{\alpha}w = ws_{\alpha} \text{ and } s_{\alpha}(\beta) \in \Phi^+ - \Phi_t$, then \mathcal{O}_x^G is of type C.

Proof. Similar to that of Lemma 4.8. Since $|\mathbb{J}_v| = 1$, the computations for $r = tx_{\beta}(\xi)$ and $s = \dot{s}_{\alpha} \triangleright r$ follow as before without introducing \mathbb{P} and \mathbb{V} . The condition $s_{\alpha}(\beta) \in \Phi^+ - \Phi_t$ ensures that $s \in \mathbb{TU}$.

We are now ready to state the main result of this Subsection.

Proposition 4.11. Assume that we are in the Setting 4.6. Then \mathcal{O}_{r}^{G} is not kthulhu.

We prove this proposition by analysing the different groups separately.

Lemma 4.12. Assume that we are in Setting 4.6 with Φ of type C_{ℓ} , so that $\mathbb{G} = \operatorname{Sp}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})$, $\ell \geq 2$ and $q \equiv 3(4)$. Then \mathcal{O}_x^G is not kthulhu.

Proof. Here \mathbb{T} is the subgroup of diagonal matrices of the form

$$\operatorname{diag}(x_1, \dots, x_\ell, x_\ell^{-1}, \dots, x_1^{-1}).$$
 (4.5)

The assumption on x_s gives $x_s^2 = -id$ so

$$t = \text{diag}(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_{\ell}, \xi_{\ell}^{-1}, \dots, \xi_1^{-1}) \text{ with } \xi_i^2 = -1 \text{ for } i \in \mathbb{I}_{\ell}.$$

Since permuting eigenvalues compatibly with (4.5) gives a new element in $\mathcal{O}_t^{\mathbb{G}}$ and $\mathcal{O}_t^{\mathbb{G}} \cap \mathbb{G}^F = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}_s}^{\mathbb{G}^F}$, we can reorder the eigenvalues and assume that $t = \operatorname{diag}(\xi \operatorname{id}_{\ell}, -\xi \operatorname{id}_{\ell})$ for $\xi^2 = -1$.

The matrices in \mathbb{H} have a diagonal block form of shape diag $(A, \mathbb{J}^t A^{-1} \mathbb{J})$ for $A \in \mathbf{GL}_{\ell}(\mathbb{k})$, i.e., $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}] \simeq \mathbf{SL}_{\ell}(\mathbb{k})$ is simple. Since $v = v_1$ occurs in Table 1, this is possible only if $\ell = 2$.

In this case *t* is conjugate to
$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
.

By a direct computation of unipotent matrices in $C_{\mathbb{G}}(S)$ we see that $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\mathbb{G}^F}$ is represented by a matrix of this form.

$$r := S \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & b \\ 0 & 1 & b & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & b & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & -b \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{for some } b \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}. \tag{4.6}$$

Assume first $q \neq 3$, 7. Let $\mathbb P$ be the standard F-stable parabolic subgroup with standard Levi factor $\mathbb L$ associated with α_1 , and let $\mathbf P = \pi(\mathbb P^F)$, $\mathbf L = \pi(\mathbb L^F)$, with $\pi_L : \mathbf P \to \mathbf L$ the corresponding projection. Then $\mathcal O_x^G$ contains the subrack $\mathcal O_x^{\mathbf P}$, which in turn projects onto $\mathcal O_{\pi_L(x)}^{\mathbf L}$. The latter is isomorphic as rack to $\mathcal O_y^{\mathbf PGL_2(q)}$, with y the class of $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. Since by [4, Theorem 1.1] this class is not kthulhu, the same holds for $\mathcal O_x^G$.

Assume now that
$$q = 3$$
 or 7. Let $u := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & b & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & b & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$ and $s := u \triangleright r = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 & -2b & 0 \\ 2 & -1 & -2b & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & -2 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$. A direct computation shows that $u \in \mathbb{G}^F$ and $(rs)^2 \neq (sr)^2$,

since
$$(rs)^2 := \begin{pmatrix} 5 & -3 & -7b & b \\ -3 & 2 & 14b & 5b \\ 0 & 0 & 5 & 3 \\ 0 & 0 & 3 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $(sr)^2 = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 3 & b & 11b \\ 3 & 5 & 4b & 13b \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & -3 & 5 \end{pmatrix}$. Moreover, this inequality also holds in the projection to \boldsymbol{G} as $(rs)^2(sr)^{-2} := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 2b & b \\ 0 & 1 & 2b & 2b \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ if $q = 3$ and $(rs)^2(sr)^{-2} := \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & -b & -b \\ 0 & -1 & 4b & -b \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$ if $q = 7$. In addition, if $q = 3$ we have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle} &\subseteq \left\{ \left(\begin{smallmatrix} A & B \\ 0 & {}_{\mathtt{J}_2A^{-t}\mathtt{J}_2} \end{smallmatrix} \right) \text{ with } A = \pm \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{smallmatrix} \right) \right\}, \\ \mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle} &\subseteq \left\{ \left(\begin{smallmatrix} A & B \\ 0 & {}_{\mathtt{J}_2A^{-t}\mathtt{J}_2} \end{smallmatrix} \right) \text{ with } A = \pm \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \end{smallmatrix} \right) \right\}; \end{split}$$

whereas if q = 7 we have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle} &\subseteq \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ 0 & J_2A^{-t}J_2 \end{pmatrix} \text{ with } A \in \left\{ \pm \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \pm \begin{pmatrix} 4 & 2 \\ 2 & 3 \end{pmatrix} \right\} \right\}, \\ \mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle} &\subseteq \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ 0 & J_2A^{-t}J_2 \end{pmatrix} \text{ with } A \in \left\{ \pm \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 2 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \pm \begin{pmatrix} -1 & -2 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \right\} \right\}. \end{split}$$

In both cases $\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle}) \neq \pi(\mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle})$, whence $\mathcal{O}_x^{\mathbf{G}}$ is of type D.

Lemma 4.13. Assume that we are in Setting 4.6 with Φ of type B_{ℓ} , $\ell \geq 3$, so that $q \equiv 3(4)$. Then \mathcal{O}_x^{G} is not kthulhu.

Proof. Let $\widetilde{\pi}: \mathbb{G} \to \mathbb{G}_{ad} = SO_{2\ell+1}(\mathbb{k})$ be the natural projection. We realize $SO_{2\ell+1}(\mathbb{k})$ as the subgroup of $SL_{2\ell+1}(\mathbb{k})$ consisting of matrices preserving the symmetric bilinear form with associated matrix $J_{2\ell+1}$ as in (4.4), and $\widetilde{\pi}(\mathbb{T})$ to be the group of diagonal matrices of the form

$$\operatorname{diag}(x_1, \dots, x_{\ell}, 1, x_{\ell}^{-1}, \dots, x_1^{-1}). \tag{4.7}$$

Since $\widetilde{\pi}(t)^2 = 1$, its eigenvalues are ± 1 . Reordering eigenvalues (i.e., acting via the Weyl group) we assume that $\widetilde{\pi}(t) = \text{diag}(-\text{id}_k, \text{id}_{2\ell-2k+1}, -\text{id}_k)$, i.e.,

$$t = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{k} \alpha_i^{\vee}((-1)^i)\right) \left(\prod_{j=k+1}^{\ell-1} \alpha_j^{\vee}((-1)^k)\right) \alpha_{\ell}^{\vee}(\xi), \text{ with } \xi^2 = (-1)^k.$$

The condition $t^2 \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F) - 1$ forces k to be odd. If $k \geq 3$ the root system Φ_t is the union of two orthogonal subsystems, with base $\Delta_1 = \{\alpha_i, i \in \mathbb{I}_{0,k-1}\}$ of type D_k and $\Delta_2 = \{\alpha_j, j \in \mathbb{I}_{\ell-k+1,\ell}\}$ of type $B_{\ell-k}$, whereas if k = 1, Φ_t has base $\Delta_2 = \{\alpha_j, j \in \mathbb{I}_{2,\ell}\}$ of type $B_{\ell-1}$. Let $\gamma = \alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_\ell = \varepsilon_1$. A direct calculation shows that we can take $\dot{w} = s_\gamma$. Indeed, $s_\gamma(\alpha_1) = -\alpha_0$ and $s_\gamma(t) = \alpha_\ell^\vee(-1)t$. So from Table 3, $s_\gamma(t) = zt = t^{q-1}$ as desired. Observe that when k = 3 we have $D_3 = A_3$. Then (3.6) holds with $\mathbb{J}_v = \{2\}$ and $\ell - k \in \{1, 2\}$. Remark 4.9 applies with $\beta = \alpha_\ell$ if $\ell = k + 1$ and $\beta = \alpha_{\ell-1}$ if $\ell = k + 2$. Lemma 4.8 applies with $\alpha = \alpha_{\ell-1}$, or $\alpha = \alpha_{\ell-2}$, respectively with the exception of the case $\ell = 3$, k = 1. In this case, $t = \alpha_1^\vee(-1)\alpha_2^\vee(-1)\alpha_3^\vee(\xi)$, $w(\alpha_1) = -\alpha_0$, $w(\alpha_2) = \alpha_2$, $w(\alpha_3) = \alpha_3$, Φ_t is of type B_2 and $tv = \alpha_1^\vee(-1)\alpha_2^\vee(-1)\alpha_3^\vee(\xi)$ for some $\zeta \in \mathbb{F}_q^\times$. Let us

set $\alpha_1 = \beta_1$, $\alpha_2 = \beta_2$ and $\beta_3 = -\alpha_0$. This is a base for a root system of type A_3 . Let $\widetilde{\mathbb{U}} = \langle \mathbb{U}_{\beta_i}, i \in \mathbb{I}_3 \rangle$, and let $\mathbb{K} = \langle \widetilde{\mathbb{U}}, \dot{w}_0(\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}) \rangle$ be the corresponding F_w -stable algebraic subgroup of \mathbb{G} . Let \mathbb{P} be the F_w -stable standard parabolic subgroup of \mathbb{K} associated with $\{\beta_2\}$, let \mathbb{L} be the corresponding standard Levi subgroup and let \mathbb{V} be the unipotent radical. Thus

$$tv = \beta_1^{\vee}(\xi)\beta_3^{\vee}(\xi^{-1})x_{\beta_2}(\zeta) \in t\mathbb{V}.$$

By the discussion in Sect. 2.1 the element tv is conjugate in $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]^{F_w}$ to an element r of the form:

$$r = tx_{\alpha_2 + 2\alpha_3}(\zeta') = \beta_1^{\vee}(\xi)\beta_3^{\vee}(\xi^{-1})x_{\beta_1 + \beta_2 + \beta_3}(\zeta') \in t\mathbb{V}.$$

Let $y = x_{\beta_1}(\eta)x_{\beta_3}(\eta') \in \widetilde{\mathbb{U}}^{F_w}$, with $\eta \eta' \neq 0$. The existence of such an element is guaranteed by [21, Proposition 23.8]. Let $s := y \triangleright tv$. Then

$$s \in \beta_1^{\vee}(\xi)\beta_3^{\vee}(\xi^{-1})x_{\beta_2}(\zeta)x_{\beta_1}(-2\eta)x_{\beta_3}(-2\eta')\mathbb{U}_{\beta_1+\beta_2}\mathbb{U}_{\beta_2+\beta_3}\mathbb{U}_{\beta_1+\beta_2+\beta_3}$$

lies in $tx_{\beta_2}(\zeta)\mathbb{V}$ and its semisimple part equals $y \triangleright t = tx_{\beta_1}(-2\eta)x_{\beta_3}(-2\eta')$. Thus, $\langle r,s \rangle \subset \langle t,\widetilde{\mathbb{U}} \rangle$. Since t commutes with \mathbb{U}_{β_2} , we have the inclusions $\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s \rangle} \subseteq t\mathbb{V}$ and $\mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s \rangle} \subseteq tx_{\beta_2}(\zeta)\mathbb{V}$. As a consequence, $\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s \rangle} \cap \mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s \rangle} = \emptyset$. Moreover, t does not commute with \mathbb{U}_{β_1} , hence it does not commute with $y \triangleright t$ and so $rs \neq sr$ by Remark 2.4. To finish the proof we estimate $|\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s \rangle}|$, $|\mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s \rangle}|$. A direct computation shows that

$$\begin{split} t \rhd s &\in \beta_{1}^{\vee}(\xi)\beta_{3}^{\vee}(\xi^{-1})x_{\beta_{2}}(\zeta)x_{\beta_{1}}(2\eta)x_{\beta_{3}}(2\eta')\mathbb{U}_{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}}\mathbb{U}_{\beta_{2}+\beta_{3}}\mathbb{U}_{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}+\beta_{3}},\\ (y \rhd t) \rhd (t \rhd s) &\in \beta_{1}^{\vee}(\xi)\beta_{3}^{\vee}(\xi^{-1})x_{\beta_{2}}(\zeta)x_{\beta_{1}}(-6\eta)x_{\beta_{3}}(-6\eta')\mathbb{U}_{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}}\mathbb{U}_{\beta_{2}+\beta_{3}}\mathbb{U}_{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}+\beta_{3}},\\ (y \rhd t) \rhd r &\in \beta_{1}^{\vee}(\xi)\beta_{3}^{\vee}(\xi^{-1})x_{\beta_{1}}(-4\eta)x_{\beta_{3}}(-4\eta')\mathbb{U}_{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}+\beta_{3}},\\ t \rhd ((y \rhd t) \rhd r) &\in \beta_{1}^{\vee}(\xi)\beta_{3}^{\vee}(\xi^{-1})x_{\beta_{1}}(4\eta)x_{\beta_{3}}(4\eta')\mathbb{U}_{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}+\beta_{3}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore $|\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle})| > 2$, $|\pi(\mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle})| > 2$, so $\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{\mathbb{G}^F})$ is of type C. By Remark 3.3 the class $\mathcal{O}_r^{\mathfrak{G}}$ is also of type C.

Lemma 4.14. Assume that we are in Setting 4.6 with Φ of type D_{ℓ} , $\ell=2n\geq 4$ so that $q\equiv 3$ (4). Then \mathcal{O}_{r}^{G} is not kthulhu.

Proof. Recall that $t^{q-1} = t^2 = z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F) - 1$. By looking at Table 3 we see that z can be either $z_1 = \prod_{i \text{ odd}} \alpha_i^{\vee}(-1)$, or $z_2 = \alpha_{\ell-1}^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_{\ell}^{\vee}(-1)$ or $z_3 = z_1z_2$. Let $\overline{\pi} : \mathbb{G} \to \mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})$ be the isogeny with kernel $\langle z_2 \rangle$. We realize $\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})$ as the group of matrices in $\mathbf{SL}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})$ preserving the form $J_{2\ell}$ from (4.4). Then the group $\overline{\pi}(\mathbb{T})$ is given by diagonal elements of shape (4.5).

Assume first that $z = z_1$. Then $\overline{\pi}(t)^2 = -\operatorname{id}_{2\ell}$, so

$$\overline{\pi}(t) = \operatorname{diag}(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_\ell, -\xi_\ell, \dots, -\xi_1), \text{ with } \xi_i^2 = -1, \text{ for } i \in \mathbb{I}_\ell.$$

Up to reordering eigenvalues by acting with the Weyl group we see that $\overline{\pi}(t)$ has the form:

$$\overline{\pi}(t) = \operatorname{diag}(\xi \operatorname{id}_{\ell}, -\xi \operatorname{id}_{\ell}) \text{ or } \operatorname{diag}(-\xi, \xi \operatorname{id}_{\ell-1}, -\xi \operatorname{id}_{\ell-1}, \xi), \text{ with } \xi^2 = -1.$$

In both cases $C_{\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})}(\overline{\pi}(t))^{\circ} = \overline{\pi}(\mathbb{H})$ has semisimple part of type A_{ℓ} . This implies that $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]$ is simple so $|\mathbb{J}_{v}| = 1$ but (3.5) cannot hold. The case $z = z_{3}$ is dealt with in the same way.

Assume now that $z = z_2$. Then $\overline{\pi}(t)^2 = \mathrm{id}_{2\ell}$, so

$$\overline{\pi}(t) = \operatorname{diag}(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_\ell, \xi_\ell, \dots, \xi_1), \text{ with } \xi_i = \pm 1, \text{ for } i \in \mathbb{I}_\ell.$$

Up to reordering eigenvalues by acting with the Weyl group we see that $\overline{\pi}(t)$ has the form:

$$\overline{\pi}(t) = \operatorname{diag}(-\operatorname{id}_b, \operatorname{id}_{2\ell-2b}, -\operatorname{id}_b), \text{ with } b \in \mathbb{I}_\ell.$$
 (4.8)

Then $\overline{\pi}(\mathbb{H})=C_{\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{K})}(\overline{\pi}(t))^\circ$ is semisimple with root system of type $D_b\times D_{\ell-b}$, with the understanding that D_1 is a torus, D_2 is $A_1\times A_1$ and $D_3=A_3$. If either (3.5) or (3.6) holds, then necessarily b=2 and/or $\ell-b=2$. Since these two cases are obtained from one another by multiplying $\overline{\pi}(t)$ by $-\mathrm{id}_{2\ell}$ we focus on b=2. Up to a central element, $t=\alpha_1^\vee(-1)$. A direct calculation shows that we can take $w=s_{\varepsilon_1-\varepsilon_\ell}s_{\varepsilon_1+\varepsilon_\ell}$.

Let us first assume $\ell > 4$. Here, $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}] = \mathbb{G}_1\mathbb{G}_2\mathbb{G}_3$ with $\Delta_1 = \{\alpha_1\}$, $\Delta_2 = \{-\alpha_0\}$, $\Delta_3 = \{\alpha_i, i \in \mathbb{I}_{3,\ell}\}$. Then $\mathbb{H}_1 = \mathbb{G}_1\mathbb{G}_2$, $\mathbb{H}_2 = \mathbb{G}_3$ and $G_1 = \mathbb{H}_1^{F_w} \simeq \mathbf{SL}_2(q^2)$. Hence, v satisfies (3.5) and q = 3.

If, instead, $\ell=4$, then $[\mathbb{H},\mathbb{H}]=\mathbb{G}_1\mathbb{G}_2\mathbb{G}_3\mathbb{G}_4$ with $\Delta_1=\{\alpha_1\}$, $\Delta_2=\{-\alpha_0\}$, $\Delta_3=\{\alpha_3\}$ and $\Delta_4=\{\alpha_4\}$. Here, $\mathbb{H}_1=\mathbb{G}_1\mathbb{G}_2$, $\mathbb{H}_2=\mathbb{G}_3\mathbb{G}_4$ and $G_i=\mathbb{H}_i^{F_w}\simeq \mathbf{SL}_2(q^2)$ for i=1,2. So condition (3.5) holds and v has only a non-trivial component in G_1 or G_2 and q=3. A diagram automorphism interchanges the roles of G_1 and G_2 , hence it is enough to look at $v=v_1\in G_1$ for $\ell\geq 4$ and q=3.

We set $\alpha_1 = \beta_1$, $\alpha_2 = \beta_2$ and $\beta_3 = -\alpha_0$. This is a base for a root system of type A_3 . Let $\widetilde{\mathbb{U}} = \langle \mathbb{U}_{\beta_i}, i \in \mathbb{I}_3 \rangle$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb{B}} = \mathbb{T}\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}$. Then $\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb{B}}$ are F_w -stable as well as Fr_q -stable. Up to conjugation in $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]^{F_w}$ we may assume that $r := tv = \beta_1^{\vee}(-1)x_{\beta_1}(\xi)x_{\beta_3}(\xi') \in \beta_1^{\vee}(-1)\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}$ for $\xi, \xi' \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$. In such a case the lemma follows, since Lemma 3.9 applies.

Lemma 4.15. Assume that we are in Setting 4.6 with Φ of type E_7 and $q \equiv 3(4)$. Then $\mathcal{O}_r^{\boldsymbol{G}}$ is not kthulhu.

Proof. Recall that $x_s^{q-1} = x_s^2 = z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F) - 1$. By looking at Table 3 we see that t is necessarily of the form:

$$t = \alpha_1^{\vee}(\epsilon_1)\alpha_2^{\vee}(\eta\epsilon_2)\alpha_3^{\vee}(\epsilon_3)\alpha_4^{\vee}(\epsilon_4)\alpha_5^{\vee}(\eta\epsilon_5)\alpha_6^{\vee}(\epsilon_6)\alpha_7^{\vee}(\eta\epsilon_7)$$

for η a primitive fourth root of unity and $\epsilon_i \in \{\pm 1\}$. Since E_7 is simply-laced, the components of v can only be non-trivial unipotent classes in $\mathbf{PSL}_2(q^{a_i})$. Also, by the discussion at the end of Sect. 2.4, we may take $w = w_0$, so the action of $\mathrm{Ad}(\dot{w})$ does not permute the simple factors \mathbb{G}_i of \mathbb{H} . Hence, for every $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$ we have $\Phi_t^j = \{\pm \alpha_{i_j}\}$ and $\mathbb{H}_j = \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_{i_j}} \rangle$. Assume $\alpha_k \in \Phi_t^1$. For every possible choice of $k \in \mathbb{I}_{0,7}$ we will provide a $\sigma \in W$ satisfying the hypotheses of Lemma 3.4. Note that Condition (1) of Lemma 3.4 is always satisfied because $w_0 = -1$ and $\theta = \mathrm{id}$.

The construction of σ relies on the fact that if $\alpha_k \in \Phi_t^1$, then all roots in $\widetilde{\Delta}$ that are adjacent to α_k do not lie in Φ_t . These conditions pose a series of constraints on some of the ϵ_j 's ensuring that there exists $\beta_k \in \widetilde{\Delta}$ such that $\beta_k \perp \alpha_k$ and $\beta_k \notin \Phi_t$. The first property guarantees condition (2) in Lemma 3.4 for $\sigma = s_{\beta_k}$. The second property implies $s_{\beta_k}(t) \neq t$. Condition (3) from Lemma 3.4 follows from Remark 3.7 (2) if $\beta_k \in \Delta$, whereas if $\beta_k = -\alpha_0$, it follows because the equation $s_{\beta_k}(t) = t\alpha_2^{\vee}(\epsilon_1)\alpha_2^{\vee}(\epsilon_1)\alpha_2^{\vee}(\epsilon_1)$ cannot be satisfied.

If k = 0, then we have $\epsilon_1 = 1$, $\epsilon_3 = -1$. Also, $\alpha_3 \in \Phi_t \Leftrightarrow \epsilon_4 = 1 \Leftrightarrow \alpha_2 \notin \Phi_t$. We take either $\beta_0 = \alpha_2$ or α_3 .

If k = 1, then we have $\epsilon_1 = -1$, $\epsilon_3 = \epsilon_4 = 1$ so $\alpha_2 \notin \Phi_t$ and we take $\beta_1 = \alpha_2$. If k = 2, then we have $\epsilon_4 = -1$ and $\epsilon_2 \epsilon_3 \epsilon_5 = 1$. Also, $\alpha_5 \in \Phi_t \Leftrightarrow \epsilon_6 = 1 \Leftrightarrow \alpha_7 \notin \Phi_t$. We take either $\beta_2 = \alpha_5$ or α_7 .

If k = 3, then $\epsilon_1 \epsilon_4 = 1$, $\epsilon_3 = -1$ and $\epsilon_2 \epsilon_5 = -1$. Then $\alpha_0 \in \Phi_t \Leftrightarrow \epsilon_4 = 1 \Leftrightarrow \alpha_2 \notin \Phi_t$. We take either $\beta_3 = \alpha_2$ or α_0 .

If k = 4, then $\epsilon_2 \epsilon_3 \epsilon_5 = -1$, $\epsilon_1 = -1$, $\epsilon_4 = \epsilon_6 = 1$, so $\beta_4 = \alpha_7 \notin \Phi_t$.

If k = 5, then $\epsilon_2 \epsilon_3 \epsilon_5 = 1$, $\epsilon_4 \epsilon_6 = -1$, $\epsilon_5 \epsilon_7 = 1$. Then $\alpha_7 \in \Phi_t \Leftrightarrow \epsilon_4 = 1 \Leftrightarrow \alpha_2 \notin \Phi_t$. We take either $\beta_5 = \alpha_2$ or α_7 .

If k = 6, then $\epsilon_4 = \epsilon_6 = 1$ and $\epsilon_5 \epsilon_7 = -1$, so $\beta_6 = \alpha_2 \notin \Phi_t$.

If k = 7, then $\epsilon_6 = -1$ and $\epsilon_5 \epsilon_7 = 1$. Also, $\alpha_5 \in \Phi_t \Leftrightarrow \epsilon_4 = 1 \Leftrightarrow \alpha_2 \notin \Phi_t$. We take either $\beta_7 = \alpha_2$ or α_5 .

Lemma 4.16. Assume that we are in Setting 4.6 with Φ of type D_{ℓ} , $\ell = 2n + 1 \ge 5$ and q odd. Then \mathcal{O}_{x}^{G} is not kthulhu.

Proof. Recall that $t^{q-1} = z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F) - 1$. By looking at Table 3 we see that z can be either $z_1 = (\prod_{i \le \ell-2 \text{ odd}} \alpha_i^{\vee}(-1))\alpha_{\ell-1}^{\vee}(\zeta)\alpha_{\ell}^{\vee}(\zeta^3)$, or $z_2 = z_1^2$ or $z_3 = z_1^3$ and the latter case is treated as the case $z = z_1$.

Let us assume $z=z_1$. This can occur only if $q\equiv 1(4)$. We proceed as in the proof of Lemma 4.14, notation as therein. We have $\overline{\pi}(z_1)=-\operatorname{id}_{2\ell}$, so $\overline{\pi}(t)^{q-1}=-\operatorname{id}_{2\ell}$, and the eigenvalues of $\overline{\pi}(t)$ do not lie in \mathbb{F}_q . Therefore, no eigenvalues of $\overline{\pi}(t)$ are equal to ± 1 . By direct calculation this implies that there are no components of type D in $[\mathbb{H},\mathbb{H}]$. Conditions on v and q imply that (3.5) holds and $v=v_1$ must live in a subgroup of type A_1 . Such factor occurs when exactly two eigenvalues are repeated. Since F(t)=zt is conjugate to t, it follows that $\overline{\pi}(t)$ is conjugate to $-\overline{\pi}(t)$. Hence if ξ is an eigenvalue $\overline{\pi}(t)$, then $-\xi$ is again so, and $\xi^{-1}\neq -\xi$, otherwise $\xi=\pm\zeta\in\mathbb{F}_q$. Up to reordering, we have

$$\overline{\pi}(t) = \text{diag}(\xi \text{ id}_2, -\xi \text{ id}_2, d, -\xi^{-1} \text{ id}_2, \xi^{-1} \text{ id}_2)$$

where d is a diagonal matrix in $\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell-8}(\mathbb{k})$ and $\xi \neq \pm 1$. Next we identify w. We have $\dot{w}^{-1} \triangleright (\overline{\pi}(t)) = \overline{\pi}(t)^q = -\overline{\pi}(t)$ for some $w \in W$, so \dot{w} acts on the first 4×4 -block as $C = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathrm{id}_2 \\ \mathrm{id}_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. This shows that w interchanges the simple factors \mathbb{G}_1 , \mathbb{G}_2 of type A_1 in $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]$ and therefore the corresponding group G_1 is isomorphic to $\mathbf{SL}_2(q^2)$. Since $q \equiv 1(4)$, condition (3.5) cannot be verified, concluding the case $z = z_1$.

Let us assume $z = z_2 = \alpha_{\ell-1}^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_{\ell}^{\vee}(-1) \in \operatorname{Ker}(\overline{\pi})$. In this case, $\overline{\pi}(t)^q = \overline{\pi}(t)$ so $\overline{\pi}(\dot{w}) \in C_{\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}}(\overline{\pi}(t)) - \overline{\pi}(\mathbb{H})$ and all eigenvalues of $\overline{\pi}(t)$ lie in \mathbb{F}_q . We

observe that 2k eigenvalues equal to ± 1 give a component in $C_{\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})}(\overline{\pi}(t))$ isomorphic to $\mathbf{O}_{2k}(\mathbb{k})$, whereas k repeated eigenvalues different from ± 1 give a component of type $\mathbf{GL}_k(\mathbb{k})$, embedded in $\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})$ as the group of block diagonal matrices of the form $\mathrm{diag}(\mathrm{id}_c, A, \mathrm{id}_{2c'}, \mathrm{J}_k{}^t A^{-1} \mathrm{J}_k, \mathrm{id}_c)$, for $c, c' \geq 0$. Therefore, $C_{\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})}(\overline{\pi}(t))$ is the subgroup of matrices of determinant 1 in a group isomorphic to $\mathbf{O}_{2a}(\mathbb{k}) \times \mathbf{O}_{2b}(\mathbb{k}) \times \prod_{j=1}^m \mathbf{GL}_{a_j}(\mathbb{k})$ with $a, b, a_j \geq 0$. Since $C_{\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})}(\overline{\pi}(t))$ is not connected, we necessarily have $ab \neq 0$, i.e., we have 2a > 0 eigenvalues equal to -1 and 2b > 0 eigenvalues equal to 1.

Up to multiplication by z_1 this gives

$$t = \left(\prod_{j=2}^{\ell-2} \alpha_j^{\vee}(c_j)\right) \alpha_{\ell-1}^{\vee}(c) \alpha_{\ell}^{\vee}(-c) \text{ with } c_j, c \in \mathbb{k}^{\times},$$

and $w=s_{\varepsilon_1-\varepsilon_\ell}s_{\varepsilon_1+\varepsilon_\ell}$. Thus, w acts trivially on the root system generated by $\{\alpha_j,\ j\in\mathbb{I}_{2,\ell-2}\}$. If all components of v are in the groups of type A_1 in $[\mathbb{H},\mathbb{H}]$, then each of them can be chosen to be of the form $x_{\alpha_j}(\xi)$ for some $j\in\mathbb{I}_{3,\ell-3}$. In this case, either Lemma 4.8 or 4.10 applies with $\beta=\alpha_j$ and $\alpha=\alpha_{j\pm 1}$. Assume a component of v occurs in a factor \mathbb{G}_1 of type D_a . Then a=2 and it corresponds either to $\{-\alpha_0,\alpha_1\}$ or to $\{\alpha_{\ell-1},\alpha_\ell\}$. Also, $G_1\simeq \mathrm{SL}_2(q^2)$, so this is possible only if q=3 and $v=v_1$. In this case we apply Lemma 3.9 either to $\{-\alpha_0,\alpha_2,\alpha_1\}$ or to $\{\alpha_{\ell-1},\alpha_{\ell-2},\alpha_\ell\}$.

Lemma 4.17. Assume that we are in Setting 4.6 with Φ of type E_6 and $q \equiv 1(3)$. Then \mathcal{O}_x^G is not kthulhu.

Proof. Since $q \equiv 1(3)$, the element v satisfies necessarily (3.5). As Φ is simply laced, $\mathcal{O}_{v_1}^{G_1}$ is not a unipotent conjugacy class in $\operatorname{PSp}_{2k}(q^a)$. Thus, $\mathcal{O}_{v_1}^{G_1}$ is either isomorphic to the rack labeled by (2) in $\operatorname{PSL}_2(q^a)$ with q^a not a square if q is odd, or the rack labeled by $(2, 1^{m-2})$ in $\operatorname{PSU}_m(q^a)$ and the latter occurs only if q is even. Therefore, [\mathbb{H} , \mathbb{H}] must have a component \mathbb{G}_i of type A_k and the action of F_w^a on \mathbb{G}_1 should be twisted if k > 1. Recall from Sect. 3.1 that to each $x_s \in \mathbb{G}^F$ we can associate a base $\Pi \subset \widetilde{\Delta}$ of the root system Φ_t of the connected centraliser \mathbb{H} and a Weyl group element w such that $w^{-1}(t) = t^q$. The element w is determined up to multiplication by elements in W_{Π} . Also, $w \in N_W(W_{\Pi})$ because it stabilises Φ_t . The pair $(\Pi, [w])$, where Π is a proper subset of $\widetilde{\Delta}$ (up to W-action) and $[w] = wW_{\Pi}$ ranges through the set of representatives of the conjugacy classes in $N_W(W_{\Pi})/W_{\Pi}$ is uniquely determined up to W-action.

In our situation, $\dot{w} \notin \mathbb{H}$ and $\dot{w}^3 \in \mathbb{H}$, since $\dot{w}^{-3}(t) = z^3t$ and $z^3 = 1$ by Table 3. Thus, $w \in N_W(W_\Pi) - W_\Pi$ and its class in $N_W(W_\Pi)/W_\Pi$ has order 3. In addition, by Remark 3.7 (3) and Table 3 any reduced expression of w must contain the reflections s_1 , s_3 , s_5 and s_6 . The order of a class $[w] \in N_W(W_\Pi)/W_\Pi$ can be calculated by using the package CHEVIE of GAP3 [16,22]. For those of order 3 we will make use of the list in [13] of all possible pairs $(\Pi, [w])$ up to conjugation in W and of the isomorphism classes of the corresponding $G_i^{F_w}$. The reader should be aware that the numbering of simple roots therein differs from ours. We look through the list considering only the pairs (Π, w) for which Π is

П	wW_{Π}	$[\mathbb{H},\mathbb{H}]^{F_w}$ (up to isogeny)
$A_1 = \{-\alpha_0\} 3A_1 = \{\alpha_4, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\} $	$s_1 s_3 s_5 s_6$ $s_{\beta_{11}} s_{\beta_{19}} s_{\beta_{20}} s_{\beta_{10}}$	$\mathbf{SL}_2(q)$ $\mathbf{SL}_2(q^3)$
$4A_1 = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_4, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$s_{\beta_{19}}s_{\beta_{11}}s_{\beta_{21}}s_{\beta_{22}}$	$\mathbf{SL}_2(q) \times \mathbf{SL}_2(q^3)$

Table 4. Pairs (Π, wW_{Π}) discussed separately in type E_6

non-trivial, $|wW_{\Pi}| = 3$, the condition from Remark 3.7 (3) is satisfied, and G_1 corresponds either to $\mathbf{SL}_2(q^a)$ or $\mathbf{SU}_m(q^a)$. The class wW_{Π} is given by means of a representative $w \in W$. The following roots are used to describe w as a product of reflections: numbering of these non-simple roots is conformal to [13] to simplify double-checking.

$$\beta_{10} = \alpha_2 + \alpha_4;$$
 $\beta_{11} = \alpha_4 + \alpha_5;$
 $\beta_{19} = \alpha_5 + \alpha_6;$
 $\beta_{20} = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + 2\alpha_3 + 3\alpha_4 + 2\alpha_5 + \alpha_6;$
 $\beta_{21} = \alpha_1 + \alpha_3;$
 $\beta_{22} = \alpha_3 + \alpha_4.$

We remain with the possibilities for (Π, w) listed in Table 4. Here, we know w and how it acts on each factor of $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]$ and we proceed case-by-case.

Let $\Pi = \{-\alpha_0\}$ with $w = s_1 s_3 s_5 s_6$ or $\Pi = \{\alpha_4, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$ with $w = s_{\beta_{11}} s_{\beta_{19}} s_{\beta_{20}} s_{\beta_{10}}$. Then Lemma 3.4 applies for $\sigma = s_1 s_3$ or $\sigma = s_1$.

Let $\Pi = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_4, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$, with $w = s_{\beta_{19}}s_{\beta_{11}}s_{\beta_{21}}s_{\beta_{22}}$. Here $w(\alpha_0) = \alpha_0$, $w(\alpha_1) = \alpha_6$, $w(\alpha_6) = \alpha_4$ and $w(\alpha_4) = \alpha_1$, so $v = v_1$ lies either in $\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_0} \rangle$ or in $\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_j}, j = 1, 4, 6 \rangle$. In the former case, Lemma 3.4 applies with $\sigma = s_{\beta_{11}}s_{\beta_{21}}$. In the latter, the condition $-\alpha_0 \in \Pi$ implies that $tv \in \mathbb{K} := \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_j}, j = 1, 3, 4, 5, 6 \rangle \simeq \mathbf{SL}_6(\mathbb{k})$ by [25, Corollary 5.4]. Also, w can be represented by an element in $N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T}) \cap \mathbb{K}$, so $\mathbb{K}^{F_w} \simeq \mathbf{SL}_6(q)$, [26, 10.9]. The claim follows from the main result in [2].

Putting together Lemmata 3.2, 3.6 and Propositions 3.8, 4.5, and 4.11 we have the main result of this Section.

Theorem 4.18. Let G be a Chevalley group and $x = x_s x_u \in G$ with x_s , $x_u \neq 1$. Then \mathcal{O}_x^G is not kthulhu, and consequently \mathcal{O}_x^G collapses.

5. Mixed classes in Steinberg groups

In this Section, $\theta \neq id$. By Lemma 3.6 and Proposition 3.8 it remains to consider the following cases:

Setting 5.1. $x_s^{q+1} = z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$; either (3.5) or (3.6) holds for v; Φ , q and x_s satisfy:

(1)
$$A_{\ell}$$
, $\ell > 2$;

Туре	$Z(\mathbb{G}^F_{sc})$	Conditions
$ \begin{array}{c} $	$\begin{array}{c} \langle \alpha_{\ell-1}^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_{\ell}^{\vee}(-1) \rangle \\ \langle \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \alpha_{i}^{\vee}(\zeta^{i}) \rangle \\ \langle \alpha_{1}^{\vee}(\omega)\alpha_{3}^{\vee}(\omega^{2})\alpha_{5}^{\vee}(\omega)\alpha_{6}^{\vee}(\omega^{2}) \rangle \\ 1 \end{array}$	q odd $d=(q+1,\ell+1), \zeta$ a primitive d th root of 1 $q\equiv 2(3), \omega^3=1$

Table 5. Center of \mathbb{G}_{SC}^F , Steinberg groups

- (2) D_{2n+1} , $n \geq 2$;
- (3) E_6 , q arbitrary;
- (4) D_{2n} , $n \ge 2$, $\theta^2 = \text{id}$, $x_s^2 \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ and q is odd; (5) D_4 , $\theta^3 = \text{id}$, $x_s^2 = 1$ and q is odd.

For the reader's convenience the center $Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ is recalled in Table 5. We begin with the groups for which $w_0 = -1$, i.e., cases (4) and (5).

Lemma 5.2. Assume that we are in Setting 5.1, with Φ of type $D_{\ell} = 2n$, $\theta^2 = \mathrm{id}$ and q odd. Then \mathcal{O} is not kthulhu.

Proof. We proceed as in the proof of Lemma 4.14, from which we adopt notation. Since q is odd, v has only components in type A_1 and $|\mathbb{J}_v| > 1$ only if q = 3. By Lemma 3.6 we need to consider the two possibilities $t^2 = z_2$ or $t^2 = 1$. We consider $\overline{\pi}(t)$ as in (4.8). It is always an involution, its connected centralizer $\overline{\pi}(\mathbb{H})$ has root system of type $D_b \times D_{\ell-b}$ and $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]$ decomposes as in Lemma 4.14. Here however, ϑ acts on \mathbb{T} as $s_{\varepsilon_{\ell}}$ and we need to describe w.

We observe that if $b, \ell - b > 2$, the unipotent part has no components in Table 1, whereas if b = 1 or $\ell = b + 1$ the component of type D_1 is a torus and has no unipotent component. Hence b=2 and/or $\ell=b+2$, so b is always even. Up to W-action and multiplication by z_2 we have

$$t = \prod_{j=1}^{b} \alpha_j^{\vee}((-1)^j),$$

so $\vartheta(t) = t$ and $t^2 = 1$ necessarily. Therefore $t \in \mathbb{T}^F$ and w = 1, so $\mathbb{G}^{F_w} = \mathbb{G}^F$. The following cases may occur:

- b=2 and $\ell>2+b$. Then we have $\mathbb{H}_1=\mathbb{G}_1=\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm\alpha_1}\rangle, \mathbb{H}_2=\mathbb{G}_2=\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm\alpha_0}\rangle,$ $\mathbb{H}_3 = \mathbb{G}_3 = \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_i}, j \in \mathbb{I}_{3,\ell} \rangle$. Then up to W-action, either $\mathbb{J}_v = \{1\}$, or else $\mathbb{J}_v = \{1, 2\} \text{ and } q = 3.$
- ullet b>2 and $\ell=b+2$. Then we have $\mathbb{H}_1=\mathbb{G}_1=\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm lpha_j,\ j\in \mathbb{I}_b}
 angle, \mathbb{G}_2=\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm lpha_{\ell-1}}
 angle,$ $\mathbb{G}_3 = \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_\ell} \rangle = \vartheta(\mathbb{G}_2)$ so $\mathbb{H}_2 = \mathbb{G}_2\mathbb{G}_3$, and $G_2 \simeq \mathbf{SL}_2(q^2)$. Then $\mathbb{J}_v = \{2\}$ and q = 3.
- b=2 and $\ell=4$. Then we have $\mathbb{H}_1=\mathbb{G}_1=\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm\alpha_1}\rangle, \mathbb{H}_2=\mathbb{G}_2=\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm\alpha_0}\rangle,$ $\mathbb{G}_3 = \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_{\ell-1}} \rangle$, $\mathbb{G}_4 = \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_{\ell}} \rangle = \vartheta(\mathbb{G}_3)$ and $\mathbb{H}_3 = \mathbb{G}_3 \mathbb{G}_4$ with $G_3 \simeq \mathbf{SL}_2(q^2)$. Then either $\mathbb{J}_v = \{1\}$, or $\mathbb{J}_v = \{3\}$, or $\mathbb{J}_v = \{1, 2\}$ with q = 3.

Summarizing, we have either b=2 and $v=x_{\alpha_1}(\xi)x_{-\alpha_0}(\zeta)$ for $\xi\in \mathbb{k}^\times$ and $\zeta\in \mathbb{k}$ (with q=3 if $\zeta\neq 0$) or $\ell=b+2$ and $v=x_{\alpha_{\ell-1}}(\xi)x_{\alpha_{\ell}}(\eta)$ (with $\xi,\ \eta\in \mathbb{k}^\times$ and q=3). We set: $\beta_1=\alpha_1,\ \beta_2=\alpha_2,\ \beta_3=-\alpha_0$ in the first case and $\beta_1=\alpha_{\ell-1},\ \beta_2=\alpha_{\ell-2},\ \beta_3=\alpha_{\ell}$ in the second case. The statement then follows from Lemma 3.9.

Lemma 5.3. Assume that we are in Setting 5.1 with Φ of type D_4 , $\theta^3 = \operatorname{id}$ and q odd. Then \mathcal{O} is not kthulhu.

Proof. We proceed as in the proof of Lemma 5.2, from which we adopt notation. We take ϑ to be a graph automorphism with associated θ given by $\alpha_1 \mapsto \alpha_3 \mapsto \alpha_4$. Here again q is odd, $t^2 = 1$ and v has components only in type A_1 . Also, F(t) is conjugate to t. These conditions imply that up to conjugation by an element in $N_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathbb{T})$ we have either $t = t_1 = \alpha_1^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_3^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_4^{\vee}(-1) \in \mathbb{G}^F$, or $t = t_2 = \alpha_1^{\vee}(-1)$. We have $F(t_2) = \vartheta(t_2) = \alpha_3^{\vee}(-1) = s_{\alpha_2}s_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2+\alpha_3}(t_2)$. For both choices of t we have $\mathbb{G}_1 =$ $\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_1} \rangle$, $\mathbb{G}_2 = \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_3} \rangle$, $\mathbb{G}_3 = \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_4} \rangle$ and $\mathbb{G}_4 = \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_0} \rangle$. If $t = t_1$, then w = 1, so $\mathbb{H}_1 = \mathbb{G}_1\mathbb{G}_2\mathbb{G}_3$ and G_1 is either $\mathbf{SL}_2(q^3)$ or $\mathbf{PSL}_2(q^3)$, and $\mathbb{H}_2 = \mathbb{G}_4$. If $t = t_2$, then $w^{-1} = s_{\alpha_2} s_{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3}$ so $\mathbb{H}_1 = \mathbb{G}_1$, $\mathbb{H}_2 = \mathbb{G}_2 \mathbb{G}_3 \mathbb{G}_4$ and G_2 is either $\mathbf{SL}_2(q^3)$ or $\mathbf{PSL}_2(q^3)$. Thus, $|\mathbb{J}_v| = 1$ and v can be chosen of the form $x_{\beta_1}(\xi_1)x_{\beta_2}(\xi_2)x_{\beta_3}(\xi_3)$ with $\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3 \in \{\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \alpha_3, \alpha_4\}, \xi_1 \in \mathbb{k}^{\times}, \xi_2, \xi_3 \in \mathbb{k}$. We deal with the case w=1, the other is similar. We consider $s_{\alpha_2} \in W^F$ and its representative \dot{s}_{α_2} in $N_{\mathbb{G}^F}(\mathbb{T})$. Let r = tv and $s := \dot{s}_{\alpha_2} \triangleright r = t'v'$. Since $s_{\alpha_2}(\beta_1) \notin \Phi_t$, it follows that $C_{\mathbb{G}}(t') \neq \mathbb{H}$ so $t' \notin Z(\mathbb{G})t$. Therefore, $\pi\left(\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle}\right) \cap \pi\left(\mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle}\right) = \emptyset$. As $\alpha_2(\pi(t)) = \alpha_2(t) \neq 1 \text{ and } \beta_1(\pi(t')) = \beta_1(t') = \beta_1(s_{\alpha_2}(t)) = (s_{\alpha_2}\beta)(t) \neq 1,$ by (2.1) the inequalities in Lemma 2.5 hold for $y = \pi(r)$ and $z = \pi(s)$. Hence, $\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{\mathbb{G}^F})$ and \mathcal{O}_r^G are of type C.

In the remaining groups we always have $\theta = -w_0$, so

$$t = w(F(t)) = w(\vartheta t^{q}) = ww_{0}(t^{-q}) = z^{-1}ww_{0}(t).$$
 (5.1)

Therefore, $ww_0 \in N_W(W_\Pi)$ and $ww_0 \in W_\Pi$ if and only if z = 1. If this is the case, since $\sigma = w_0 w^{-1} \in W_\Pi$, we may replace w by $\sigma w = w_0$, so $C_W(w\theta) = C_W(-\mathrm{id}) = W$.

Remark 5.4. Assume that $\theta = -w_0$ and $t^{q+1} = 1$, $w = w_0$.

- (1) Suppose in addition that for some irreducible component Δ_j of Π there exists a simple root $\alpha_j \notin \Pi$ such that α_j is orthogonal to Δ_j . If $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$, then $\sigma = s_{\alpha_j}$ satisfies the hypothesis of Lemma 3.4 by virtue of Remark 3.7 (2) and Table 3.
- (2) If for any component Δ_j of Π there exists a simple root $\alpha_j \notin \Pi$ such that α_j is orthogonal to Δ_j , then the corresponding class is not kthulhu. Indeed, Lemma 3.4 applies by virtue of (1).

We consider now the Steinberg groups for Φ of type A_{ℓ} . Here $\mathbb{G} = \mathbf{SL}_{\ell+1}(\mathbb{k})$ and F is realised as the map $(a_{ij}) \mapsto J^t(a_{ij})^{-q}J$ on any matrix of \mathbb{G} , so $\mathbb{G}^F = \mathbf{SU}_{\ell+1}(q)$ and $G = \mathbf{PSU}_{\ell+1}(q)$.

Remark 5.5. We shall not consider $PSU_3(2)$ because it has no mixed classes, since every semisimple element in $SU_3(2)$ is either central or regular.

Lemma 5.6. Let $G = \mathbf{PSU}_3(q)$ with q > 2. Let $\lambda \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}$ with $\lambda^{q+1} = 1$, $\lambda^3 \neq 1$ and let

$$\mathbf{x}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 & \lambda \\ 0 & \lambda^{-2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then $\mathcal{O}_{\pi(\mathbf{x}_1)}^{\mathbf{G}}$ is not kthulhu.

Proof. If q is odd, then a slight modification of the proofs of [5, Lemma 5.3] shows that $\mathcal{O}_{\pi(\mathbf{x}_1)}^{\mathbf{G}}$ is of type D for q>3 and type C for q=3. Let thus q be even >2. We show that in this case, $\mathcal{O}_{\pi(\mathbf{x}_1)}^{\mathbf{G}}$ is of type D.

Under these assumptions \mathbb{U}^F is the group of matrices of the form $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & \xi & \eta \\ 0 & 1 & \xi^q \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ for $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}$ such that $\eta^q + \eta = \xi^{q+1}$. The inverse of such a matrix is $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & \xi & \eta^q \\ 0 & 1 & \xi^q \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$. These elements have order 4 if $\xi \neq 0$ and order 2 if $\xi = 0, \eta \neq 0$.

Since $\lambda^q = \lambda^{-1}$ and $\lambda^3 \neq 1$, it follows that $\lambda^6 \neq 1$ so $\lambda^{3q} = \lambda^{-3} \neq \lambda^3$ and thus $\lambda^3 \notin \mathbb{F}_q$. Let $a \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times}$ such that $a^{q+1} \neq 1$ and $\eta \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}$ such that $\eta + \eta^q = 1$. We set $r := \mathbf{x}_1$ and

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{y} &:= \begin{pmatrix} a & a^{q-1} & \eta a^{-q} \\ 0 & a^{q-1} & a^{-q} \\ 0 & 0 & a^{-q} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbf{SU}_3(q), \\ \mathbf{s} &:= \mathbf{y} \triangleright r = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & (\lambda + \lambda^{-2}) & (\lambda + \lambda^{-2}) + \lambda a^{1+q} \\ 0 & \lambda^{-2} & (\lambda + \lambda^{-2}) \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{O}_r^{\mathbf{SU}_3(q)}, \\ \mathbf{u} &= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & (1 + \lambda^{-3}) & (1 + \lambda^{-3}) + a^{1+q} \\ 0 & 1 & (\lambda^3 + 1) \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{U}^F, \\ \mathbf{t} &:= \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda^{-2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{T}^F. \end{split}$$

so s = tu and $r = t(id + e_{13})$.

The (1, 2) entry of $(rs)^2$ equals $(\lambda + \lambda^{-2})\lambda^3(1 + \lambda^{-6})$ whereas the (1, 2) entry of $(sr)^2$ equals $(\lambda + \lambda^{-2})(1 + \lambda^{-6})$, hence $(rs)^2 \neq (sr)^2$.

These products have same diagonal part, so $\pi(rs)^2 \neq \pi(sr)^2$. Let $H = \langle r, s \rangle = \langle t, (\mathrm{id} + e_{1,3}), tu \rangle = \langle t, (\mathrm{id} + e_{1,3}), u \rangle$. Observe that u^2 and $(\mathrm{id} + e_{1,3}) \in Z(H)$ so the elements in \mathcal{O}_r^H and \mathcal{O}_s^H have same diagonal part. Thus $\mathcal{O}_r^H \neq \mathcal{O}_s^H$ implies $\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^H) \neq \pi(\mathcal{O}_s^H)$. We verify the former. We have:

$$H/Z(H) = \langle tZ(H), uZ(H) \rangle$$

= $\{t^{a_1}ut^{a_2}u \cdots t^{a_{k-1}}ut^{a_k}Z(H), a_1 \ge 0, a_k \ge 0, a_i \ge 1, i \in \mathbb{I}_{2,k-1}\}.$

Since $t \triangleright r = r$ we obtain

$$\mathcal{O}_r^H = \mathcal{O}_r^{H/Z(H)}$$
= \{ ((t^{a_1} \neq u)(t^{a_1 + a_2} \neq u) \cdot \cdot (t^{a_1 + \cdot + a_k} \neq u)) \neq r, \ a_1 \geq 0, \ a_i \geq 1 \ \text{for } i \in \mathbb{I}_{2,k} \}.

Observe that for $m_i \geq 1$

$$t^{m_i} \triangleright u = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \lambda^{3m_i} (1+\lambda^{-3}) & a^{1+q} + (1+\lambda^{-3}) \\ 0 & 1 & \lambda^{-3m_i} (1+\lambda^3) \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(t^{m_1} \triangleright u)(t^{m_2} \triangleright u) \cdots (t^{m_k} \triangleright u) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & (\sum_i \lambda^{3m_i})(1+\lambda^{-3}) & f \\ 0 & 1 & (\sum_i \lambda^{-3m_i})(1+\lambda^3) \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

for some $f \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}$ such that $f + f^q = \left(\sum_i \lambda^{3m_i}\right) (1 + \lambda^{-3}) \left(\sum_i \lambda^{-3m_i}\right) (1 + \lambda^3)$ and

$$(t^{m_1} \triangleright u)(t^{m_2} \triangleright u) \cdots (t^{m_k} \triangleright u) \triangleright r$$

$$= t \begin{pmatrix} 1 & * & f^q + f + 1 + \lambda^{-3}(1 + \lambda^3)(1 + \lambda^{-3})(\sum_i \lambda^{3m_i})(\sum_i \lambda^{-3m_i}) \\ 0 & 1 & * \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus, if $s \in \mathcal{O}_r^H$, then comparing (1, 3)-entries we would have

$$(1+\lambda^{-3}) + a^{1+q} = 1 + (1+\lambda^{-3}) \left(\sum_{i} \lambda^{3m_i}\right) (1+\lambda^{-3}) \left(\sum_{i} \lambda^{-3m_i}\right) (1+\lambda^3)$$

for some nonnegative integers m_i , or, equivalently

$$1 + a^{1+q} = (1 + \lambda^{-3}) \left[\left(\sum_{i} \lambda^{3m_i} \right) (1 + \lambda^{-3}) \left(\sum_{i} \lambda^{-3m_i} \right) (1 + \lambda^3) + 1 \right].$$

Our choice of a implies that the left hand side lies in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , whereas the right hand side is a product of $(1 + \lambda^{-3}) \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2} \setminus \mathbb{F}_q$ with an element in \mathbb{F}_q . The latter cannot lie in \mathbb{F}_q , unless it is zero, so this equality cannot hold.

Lemma 5.7. Let $G = \mathbf{PSU}_{\ell+1}(q)$ for $\ell = 3, 4$. Assume $t^{q+1} = 1$ and that tv is conjugate in \mathbb{G} to one of the following matrices, for $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times}$ with $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{x}_2 &= \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1' \\ 0 & \lambda_2 & \lambda_2' & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 \end{pmatrix}, \ (\lambda_1', \lambda_2') \neq (0, 0), \ \text{and} \ \lambda_1' \lambda_2' \neq 0 \text{ only for } q = 2, 3 \\ \mathbf{x}_3 &= \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1' \\ 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 & \lambda_2' & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 \end{pmatrix}, \ q = 2, (\lambda_1', \lambda_2') \neq (0, 0). \end{aligned}$$

Then \mathcal{O}_{x}^{G} is of type D.

Proof. Let $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}_2$, $\sigma = \operatorname{diag}(\mathbf{J}_2, \mathbf{J}_2) \in \mathbf{SU}_4(q)$, $y = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbf{SU}_4(q)$ and

$$r = \sigma \triangleright \mathbf{x} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_2 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_2' \\ 0 & \lambda_1 & \lambda_1' & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad s = \mathbf{y} \triangleright \mathbf{x} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & \lambda_2 - \lambda_1 & \lambda_2' & \lambda_1' + \lambda_2' \\ 0 & \lambda_2 & \lambda_2' & \lambda_2' \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & \lambda_2 - \lambda_1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

By looking at the (1, 2) entry we see that $(rs)^2 \notin \mathbb{k}(sr)^2$. In addition,

$$\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle} \subset \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_2 & * & * & * \\ 0 & \lambda_1 & \lambda_1' & * \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 & * \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle} \subset \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & * & * & * \\ 0 & \lambda_2 & \lambda_2' & * \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & * \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

hence looking at the diagonal or at the (2,3)-entry we see that $\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{(r,s)}) \neq$ $\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle})$, so \mathcal{O}_x^G is of type D, with a possible exception when $\lambda_1 = -\lambda_2$ and $\lambda_1' = -\lambda_2' \neq 0$ and q = 3. Assume this is the case, so $\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_1'^2 = 0$ and $(\lambda_1')^4 = \lambda_1^4 = 1$. For every choice of λ_1 there are two possible choices of λ_1' but the corresponding elements are conjugate by $\operatorname{diag}(\zeta, \zeta^{-1}, \zeta^3, \zeta^{-3})$ where $\langle \zeta \rangle = \mathbb{F}_9^{\times}$. In addition, the different choices of λ_1 correspond to multiplication by a central

element. Therefore it remains to consider $x_2 = \begin{pmatrix} \zeta^2 & 0 & 0 & 2 \\ 0 & \zeta^6 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \zeta^6 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$. The element

$$y := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \zeta^7 & 0 & \zeta^7 \\ \zeta^5 & 0 & \zeta & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \zeta \\ 0 & 0 & \zeta^3 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ lies in } \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}_2}^{\mathbb{G}^F} \text{ because it has the same Jordan form as } \mathbf{x}_2$$

and
$$(\mathbf{x}_2 y)^2 (y \mathbf{x}_2)^{-2} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \zeta^5 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & \zeta^3 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \notin Z(\mathbf{SU}_4(q))$$
. A computation with GAP shows that $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{x}_2}^{\mathbf{SU}_4(q)} \neq \mathcal{O}_{zy}^{\mathbf{SU}_4(q)}$ for any $z \in Z(\mathbf{SU}_4(q))$, so $\mathcal{O}_x^{\mathbf{G}}$ is of type D.

Let now
$$\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}_3$$
, $\sigma' = \operatorname{diag}(\mathbf{J}_2, 1, \mathbf{J}_2) \in \mathbf{SU}_5(q)$, $z = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in$

 $SU_5(q)$ and

$$r=\sigma' \triangleright \mathbf{x} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_2' \\ 0 & \lambda_1 & 0 & \lambda_1' & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad s=z \triangleright \mathbf{x} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \, \lambda_2 - \lambda_1 & 0 & \lambda_2' & \lambda_1' + \lambda_2' \\ 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 & \lambda_2' & \lambda_2' \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & \lambda_2 - \lambda_1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

As in the previous case we see that $(rs)^2 \notin \mathbb{k}(sr)^2$ and that

$$\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle} \subset \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_2 & * & 0 & * & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda_1 & 0 & \lambda_1' & * \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 & * \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle} \subset \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & * & 0 & * & * \\ 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 & \lambda_2' & * \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & * \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 & * \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 & * \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_2 & * \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \lambda_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence looking at the diagonal we conclude that $\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle}) \neq \pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle})$ so \mathcal{O}_x^G is of type D.

Lemma 5.8. Assume that we are in Setting 5.1 with Φ of type A_{ℓ} , $\ell \geq 2$ and $x_s^{q+1} = 1$. Then \mathcal{O}_r^G is not kthulhu.

Proof. Observe that (5.1) gives $w = w_0$ and $C_W(w\theta) = W$. Also, F_w preserves each irreducible component of Φ_t mapping each root to its opposite, hence, each \mathbb{H}_i is simple. An eigenvalue of t of multiplicity $k \ge 2$ gives a component of type A_{k-1} in Π . If t has at least 3 different eigenvalues, then $|\Delta - \Pi| \ge 3$, so the statement follows from Remark 5.4.

Assume t has exactly two eigenvalues λ_1 , λ_2 of multiplicity m_1 , m_2 . They satisfy $\lambda_i^{q+1} = 1$. According to the parity of m_1 and m_2 , and up to interchanging indices, t is conjugate in \mathbb{G} to one of the following matrices:

$$t_1 = \text{diag}(\lambda_1 \text{ id}_a, \lambda_2 \text{ id}_{m_2}, \lambda_1 \text{ id}_a),$$
 if $m_1 = 2a > 0$
 $t_2 = \text{diag}(\lambda_1 \text{ id}_a, \lambda_2 \text{ id}_b, \lambda_1, \lambda_2 \text{ id}_{b+1}, \lambda_1 \text{ id}_a),$ if $m_1 = 2a + 1 \ge m_2 = 2b + 1$.

Then $t_1 \in \mathbf{SU}_{\ell+1}(q)$ so we take $x_s = t_1 = t$ (and we replace for convenience $w = w_0$ by $w = \mathrm{id}$) in this case, whereas $t_2 \in \mathbb{G}^{F_w}$ for the choice $w = s_{a+b+1}$.

Let $\mathbf{x}_s = t_1$. Then $[C_{\mathbb{G}}(t_1), C_{\mathbb{G}}(t_1)]$ is given by matrices of block form $\begin{pmatrix} A_1 & 0 & A_2 \\ 0 & B & 0 \\ A_3 & 0 & A_4 \end{pmatrix}$ with A_j of size $a \times a$ for $j \in \mathbb{I}_4$ and B of size $m_2 \times m_2$ and

 $[C_{\mathbb{G}}(t_1), C_{\mathbb{G}}(t_1)]^F \simeq \mathbf{SU}_{m_1}(q) \times \mathbf{SU}_{m_2}(q)$. We take $\mathbf{x}_u = v \in \mathrm{id} + \mathbb{k}e_{1,m_1+m_2} + \mathbb{k}e_{a+1,a+b}$ id $\in \mathbf{SU}_{m_1+m_2}(q)$. All cases can be reduced to computations in orbits represented by elements with shape \mathbf{x}_j , for $j \in 1, 2, 3$ as in Lemmata 5.6 and 5.7, under the action of subgroups isomorphic to $\mathbf{SU}_j(q)$ for j = 3, 4, 5. Such elements may have determinant different from 1 but the proofs of these Lemmata do not require this assumption. Hence all cases are covered, in view of Remark 5.5.

We study now the class of $t_2v \in \mathcal{O}_{t_2v}^{\mathbb{G}^{F_w}}$ for $w = s_{a+b+1}$. The non-trivial factors in $[C_{\mathbb{G}}(t_2), C_{\mathbb{G}}(t_2)]$ are of type A_{2a} and A_{2b} , so q is necessarily even. We work in

$$\mathbb{G}^{F_w} \text{ where } F_w = \operatorname{Ad}(\dot{s}_{a+b+1})F, \, \dot{s}_{a+b+1} = \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{id}_{a+b} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \operatorname{id}_{a+b} \end{pmatrix}. \text{ We may take}$$

 $v \in \operatorname{id} + \ker e_{1,\ell+1} + \ker e_{a+1,\ell+1-a}$ where two nonzero elements outside the diagonal can occur only for a = b = 1 and q = 2. It represents the class because it has the right Jordan form, centralises t_2 and, for suitable choice of the scalars, it lies in \mathbb{G}^{F_w} . We take

$$x = diag(\lambda_1 id_a, \lambda_2 id_b, \lambda_1, \lambda_2 id_{b+1}, \lambda_1 id_a)(id + \xi_1 e_{1,\ell+1} + \xi_2 e_{a+1,\ell+1-a})$$

with $\xi_1 \neq 0$ and $\xi_2 = 0$ if $b = 0$,

the case $\xi_2 \neq 0$ is treated similarly. Let

$$\sigma_{1} = \begin{pmatrix}
id_{a+b} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\
0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\
0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\
0 & 0 & 0 & id_{a+b}
\end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{G}^{F_{w}}, \qquad \sigma_{2} = \begin{pmatrix}
0 & 0 & 1 \\
0 & id_{\ell-2} & 0 \\
1 & 0 & 0
\end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{G}^{F_{w}}$$

$$r = \sigma_{1} \triangleright x$$

$$= \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_{1} \operatorname{id}_{a}, \lambda_{2} \operatorname{id}_{b+1}, \lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2} \operatorname{id}_{b}, \lambda_{1} \operatorname{id}_{a})(\operatorname{id} + \xi_{1}e_{1,\ell+1} + \xi_{2}e_{a+1,\ell+1-a}),$$

$$s = \sigma_{2} \triangleright x$$

$$= \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_{1} \operatorname{id}_{a}, \lambda_{2} \operatorname{id}_{b}, \lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2} \operatorname{id}_{b+1}, \lambda_{1} \operatorname{id}_{a})(\operatorname{id} + \xi_{1}e_{\ell+1,1} + \xi_{2}e_{a+1,\ell+1-a}).$$

By looking at the (1,1) and $(1,\ell+1)$ entries we verify that $\pi(rs)^2 \neq \pi(sr)^2$ and by looking at the entries (j,j) for $j \in \mathbb{I}_{a+b,a+b+2}$ we verify that $\pi(\mathcal{O}_r^{\langle r,s\rangle}) \neq \pi(\mathcal{O}_s^{\langle r,s\rangle})$, hence \mathcal{O}_x^G is of type D.

Lemma 5.9. Assume that we are in Setting 5.1 with Φ of type A_{ℓ} , $\ell \geq 2$ and $\mathbf{x}_s^{q+1} = z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F) - 1$. Then \mathcal{O}_x^G is not kthulhu.

Proof. Here $t^{q+1} = \eta$ id for some $\eta \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$ such that ord $\eta = b$ is a divisor of $d = (q+1, \ell+1)$, see Table 5. Equation (5.1) shows that t and zt are conjugate, hence the spectrum of t is the disjoint union of sets of the form $S_j = \{\lambda_j \eta^l, l \in \mathbb{I}_{0,b-1}\}$, for $j \in \mathbb{I}_k$, and the multiplicity is constant in S_j : we denote it by m_j . Hence t can be chosen to have form

$$t = \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1 \operatorname{id}_{m_1}, \lambda_1 \eta \operatorname{id}_{m_1}, \dots, \eta^{b-1} \lambda_1 \operatorname{id}_{m_1}, \lambda_2 \operatorname{id}_{m_2}, \dots, \lambda_k \eta^{b-1} \operatorname{id}_{m_k}).$$

Then w(F(t)) = t for $w = \tau w_0$, where τ is the permutation represented by the block-diagonal monomial matrix in $\mathbf{GL}_{\ell+1}(\mathbb{k})$

$$\tau = \operatorname{diag}(\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_k), \qquad \tau_j = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \operatorname{id}_{m_j} & 0 & \ldots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \operatorname{id}_{m_j} & \ldots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \operatorname{id}_{m_j} \\ \operatorname{id}_{m_j} & 0 & \ldots & \ldots & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Decomposition (3.3) consists of a factor $\mathbb{H}_j \simeq \prod_{j=1}^d \mathbf{SL}_{m_j}(\mathbb{k})$, for each $j \in \mathbb{I}_k$ such that $m_j > 1$. More precisely, $\omega = \tau w_0 \theta$ cyclically permutes the irreducible components of the root systems of \mathbb{H}_j and maps a simple root in one factor to the opposite of a simple root in the following factor. Hence, $G_j \simeq \mathbf{SL}_{m_j}(q^d)$ when d is even or $m_j = 2$ and $G_j \simeq \mathbf{SU}_{m_j}(q^d)$ when d is odd and $m_j > 2$.

Assume k > 1 and let $j_0 \in \mathbb{J}_v$. By construction, $C_W(w\theta) = C_W(\tau)$, so it contains the permutations corresponding to each factor τ_j , they preserve every \mathbb{H}_j , and

$$\tau_i(t) = \operatorname{diag}(\operatorname{id}_{d(m_1 + \dots + m_{i-1})}, \eta \operatorname{id}_{m_i}, \operatorname{id}_{d(m_{i+1} + \dots + m_k)})t \notin Z(\mathbb{G}^F)t.$$

Thus, for any $j \neq j_0$, the element τ_j satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 3.4 and \mathcal{O}_x^G is not kthulhu.

Assume now k=1, so $|\mathbb{J}_v|=1$ and write for simplicity $\lambda_1=\lambda, m_1=m$, so $\ell+1=dm$. Then

$$1 = \det(t) = \lambda^{\ell+1} \eta^{\frac{d(d-1)m}{2}}.$$

Hence, if either m is even or d is odd, we have $\lambda^{\ell+1} = 1$ so λ id $\in Z(\mathbf{SU}_{\ell+1}(q))$ and multiplying by λ^{-1} id we reduce to the case in which $t^{q+1} = 1$ and invoke Lemma 5.8. If, instead, m is odd and d is even, then $G_1 \simeq \mathbf{SL}_m(q^d)$ with m > 2 and $q^d > 2$, so \times cannot satisfy condition (3.5).

Lemma 5.10. Assume that we are in Setting 5.1 with Φ of type A_{ℓ} , $\ell \geq 2$. Then $\mathcal{O}_x^{\mathbf{G}}$ is not kthulhu.

Proof. The case $x_s^{q+1} = 1$ is covered by Lemma 5.8 whereas the case $x_s^{q+1} \neq 1$ is covered by Lemma 5.9.

Lemma 5.11. Assume that we are in Setting 5.1, with Φ of type D_{ℓ} with $\ell = 2n + 1 \geq 5$. Then \mathcal{O} is not kthulhu.

Proof. We adopt the notation of Lemma 4.14. The non-trivial element $z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$ generates the kernel of the projection $\mathbb{G} \to \mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})$, so for $t' \in \mathbb{T}$ we have $t \neq zt'$ if and only if $\pi(t) \neq \pi(t')$. In this situation $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]$ has root system of type $D_a \times D_b \times \prod_j A_{k_j}$, where D_1 corresponds to a torus, D_2 is $A_1 \times A_1$, $D_3 = A_3$. Recall that the components of type A_{k_j} correspond to equal eigenvalues λ of $\pi(t) \in \mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}(\mathbb{k})$ distinct from ± 1 , whereas D_a and D_b correspond to a sequence of equal eigenvalues $\lambda = \pm 1$. Thus, if q is even there is at most one component of type D in $[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]$.

Assume first that $t^{q+1} = 1$ and take $w = w_0$ so $C_W(w\theta) = W$. Thus, $w\theta$ acts as - id on Φ , so all \mathbb{G}_i are F_w -stable and if \mathbb{G}_j is of type A_k , then $G_j \simeq \mathbf{SU}_{k+1}(q)$ for $k \geq 1$, where we set $\mathbf{SU}_2(q) := \mathbf{SL}_2(q)$. By hypothesis, $\mathbb{J}_v \neq \emptyset$ and (3.5) or (3.6) impose restrictions on the subgroups \mathbb{H}_j with $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$. For most possibilities for \mathbb{H}_j we will prove the statement by exhibiting a $\sigma \in C_W(w\theta)$ satisfying the hypotheses of Lemma 3.4. In the remaining case we will apply Lemma 3.9

If $\mathbb{H}_j \simeq \mathbf{SL}_{2l}(\mathbb{k})$ is of type A_{2l-1} with base $\{\alpha_c, \ldots, \alpha_{c+2l-2}\} = \{\varepsilon_c - \varepsilon_{c+1}, \ldots, \varepsilon_{c+2l-2} - \varepsilon_{c+2l-1}\}$, then we take $\sigma = \prod_{i=0}^{l-1} s_{\varepsilon_{c+2i} - \varepsilon_{c+2i+1}} s_{\varepsilon_{c+2i} + \varepsilon_{c+2i+1}}$. Condition $\sigma(\pi(t)) \neq \pi(t)$ holds because σ interchanges the eigenvalue λ with λ^{-1} . If $\mathbb{H}_j \simeq \mathbf{SL}_{2l+1}(\mathbb{k})$ is of type A_{2l} for some l, and has root system with base $\{\alpha_c, \ldots, \alpha_{c+2l-1}\} = \{\varepsilon_c - \varepsilon_{c+1}, \ldots, \varepsilon_{c+2l-1} - \varepsilon_{c+2l}\}$, then we take $\sigma = \left(\prod_{i=0}^{l-1} s_{\varepsilon_{c+2i} - \varepsilon_{c+2i+1}} s_{\varepsilon_{c+2i} + \varepsilon_{c+2i+1}}\right) s_{\varepsilon_{c+2l-1} - \varepsilon_{c+2l}} s_{\varepsilon_{c+2l-1} + \varepsilon_{c+2l}}$.

If \mathbb{H}_j is of type $D_3 \simeq A_3$ then the eigenvalue $\lambda = \pm 1$ has multiplicity 6 and q is necessarily even so $\lambda = 1$ and all remaining eigenvalues of $\pi(t)$ are different from their inverses. We take $\sigma = \prod_{i=0}^{n-2} s_{\epsilon_{4+2i}-\epsilon_{4+2i+1}} s_{\epsilon_{4+2i}+\epsilon_{4+2i+1}}$, recalling that $\ell = 2n+1$.

Assume finally that there are no factors as above, so \mathbb{H}_j is a simple factor contained in the component of type $D_2 \simeq A_1 \times A_1$. The base of the root system of type D_2 is either $\{\alpha_0, \alpha_1\}$ or $\{\alpha_{\ell-1}, \alpha_{\ell}\}$. In the first case we take $\sigma = s_{\varepsilon_3 - \varepsilon_4} s_{\varepsilon_3 + \varepsilon_4}$, in the latter we take $\sigma = s_{\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_2} s_{\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2}$. Condition 3 in Lemma 3.4 holds unless $\pi(t)$ has only eigenvalues ± 1 , or, equivalently, Φ_t has type $D_2 \times D_{\ell-2}$. If this is the case, we replace w by $w' = w_0 w_{\Pi}$, where w_{Π} is the longest element in W_{Π} and we replace F_w by $F_{w'}$. Then $w'\theta$ acts trivially on the root system of type A_3 containing D_2 , so Lemma 3.9 applies with $\beta_1 = \alpha_1$, $\beta_2 = \alpha_2$, $\beta_3 = -\alpha_0$. This concludes the case $t^{q+1} = 1$.

Assume now $t^{q+1} = z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F) - 1$. Then q is necessarily odd, see Table 5. Also, (5.1) shows that $ww_0 \notin W_\Pi$ whereas ww_0 fixes $\pi(t)$. Hence, $C_{\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}}(\pi(t)) \supsetneq \pi(\mathbb{H})$. Arguing as in the proof of Lemma 4.16 we deduce that this can happen only if $\pi(t)$ has both eigenvalues equal to 1 and -1. Since $\pi \subset \widetilde{\Delta}$, we have $\pi(t)_{jj} = \epsilon$ for $\epsilon^2 = 1$ and $j \in \mathbb{I}_{1,a} \cup \mathbb{I}_{2\ell-a+1,2\ell}$ and $\pi(t)_{jj} = -\epsilon$ for $j \in \mathbb{I}_{\ell-b+1,\ell+b}$. Also,

$$C_{\mathbf{SO}_{2\ell}}(\pi(t))/\pi(\mathbb{H}) \simeq S(\mathbf{O}_{2a}(\mathbb{k}) \times \mathbf{O}_{2b}(\mathbb{k}))/\mathbf{SO}_{2a}(\mathbb{k}) \times \mathbf{SO}_{2b}(\mathbb{k}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$$

and by [20, 2.2] it is isomorphic to $\langle W_{\Pi}, ww_0 \rangle / W_{\Pi}$. Thus, $ww_0 W_{\Pi} = s_{\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_\ell} s_{\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_\ell} W_{\Pi}$ and therefore we may assume $w = s_{\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_\ell} s_{\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_\ell} w_0$. Hence, $C_W(ww_0) = C_W(s_{\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_\ell} s_{\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_\ell})$. Since q is odd, G_j is of type A_1 for every $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$. Such a factor comes from an eigenvalue λ of $\pi(t)$ of multiplicity 2 if $\lambda \neq \pm 1$ and of multiplicity 4 if $\lambda = \pm 1$. Let $j \in \mathbb{J}_v$. If the corresponding $\lambda \neq \pm 1$ and

 $\pi(t)_{ll} = \pi(t)_{l+1,l+1} = \lambda$, then $\sigma = s_{\varepsilon_l + \varepsilon_{l+1}} s_{\varepsilon_l - \varepsilon_{l+1}}$ satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 3.4. If, instead $\pi(t)_{jj} = \pm 1$ for every $j \in \mathbb{I}_\ell$, then (3.5) or (3.6) holds only if either 1 or -1 has multiplicity 4 and the root system of G_j is one of the irreducible components of the root system of type D_2 . Acting possibly by $\tau = s_{\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_\ell} s_{\varepsilon_2 - \varepsilon_{\ell-2}}$ we may assume that the multiplicity 4 eigenvalue occurs in the entries indexed by $1, 2, 2\ell, 2\ell - 1$. In this situation, D_2 has base $\{\alpha_0, \alpha_1\}$. As in the case $t^{q+1} = 1$ we replace w by $w' = ww_\Pi$ and apply Lemma 3.9 to $\{-\alpha_0, \alpha_2, \alpha_1\}$.

Finally, we deal with the groups ${}^{2}E_{6}(q)$. In order to use the list in [13], we need to establish a dictionary between pairs $(\Pi, [w])$ coming from different choices for the Steinberg endomorphism F.

Remark 5.12. For j=1,2, let $F_j=\vartheta_j$ Fr_q be Steinberg endomorphisms of $\mathbb G$ such that $F_1=\operatorname{Ad}\dot\sigma$ F_2 for some $\sigma\in N_{\mathbb G}(\mathbb T)$ and let $g_0\in\mathbb G$ be such that $g_0^{-1}F_2(g_0)=\dot\sigma$. Then $\mathbb G^{F_2}=g_0\mathbb G^{F_1}g_0^{-1}$ and if for some $z\in\mathbb G$ we have $x\in\mathbb G^{F_1}\cap\mathcal O_z^{\mathbb G}$, it follows that $g_0xg_0^{-1}\in\mathbb G^{F_2}\cap\mathcal O_z^{\mathbb G}$. Assume $s_1\in\mathbb G^{F_1}$ is a semisimple element and let $t_1\in\mathbb T$, $\dot w_1\in N_{\mathbb G}(\mathbb T)$ and $g_1\in\mathbb G$ be such that $g_1^{-1}F_1(g_1)=\dot w_1$; $s_1=g_1t_1g_1^{-1}$ and $\operatorname{Ad}(\dot w_1)\,F_1(t_1)=t_1$. Then $s_2:=g_0s_1g_0^{-1}$, $t_2:=t_1,g_2:=g_0g_1$ and $\dot w_2:=\dot w_1\dot\sigma$ satisfy $g_2^{-1}F_2(g_2)=\dot w_2$; $s_2=g_2t_2g_2^{-1}$ and $\operatorname{Ad}(\dot w_2)\,F_2(t_2)=t_2$. Thus, if Π_1 is a base for the root system of $C_{\mathbb G}(t_1)$, then it is also a base for the root system of $C_{\mathbb G}(t_2)$ and comparing the actions of $w_j\theta_j$ for $j\in\mathbb I_2$ on Φ gives $w_1\theta_1=w_1\sigma\theta_2=w_2\theta_2$, hence the isomorphism classes of the groups $[\mathbb H,\mathbb H]^{\operatorname{Ad}(\dot w_j)F_j}$ for $j\in\mathbb I_2$ coincide.

Lemma 5.13. Assume that we are in Setting 5.1, with Φ of type E_6 . Then \mathcal{O} is not kthulhu.

Proof. We proceed as in the proof of Lemma 4.17, using the list in [13] of pairs attached to a semisimple conjugacy class. The Steinberg endomorphism F_{FJ} used therein differs from our choice of F and there exists $\dot{\sigma} \in w_0 \mathbb{T}$ such that $F_{FJ} = \operatorname{Ad} \dot{\sigma} F$. By Remark 5.12 the pair $(\Pi_{FJ}, [w_{FJ}])$ attached to a semisimple conjugacy class in $\mathbb{G}^{F_{FJ}}$ is related to the pair attached to the corresponding semisimple conjugacy class in \mathbb{G}^F by the law $(\Pi_{FJ}, [w_{FJ}]) = (\Pi, [ww_0]) = (\Pi, [w_\theta])$. Also, the groups $\mathbb{G}_i^{F_w}$ can be extracted from the list in [13].

We have to deal with the case in which $t^q = zt^{-1}$ for some $z \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F)$. By (5.1) the element $w_{FJ} = ww_0$ normalises \mathbb{H} , whence W_{Π} . Also, $(ww_0)^3t = t$, so $|ww_0W_{\Pi}| \in \{1, 3\}$. Observe that in all cases in which $\alpha_0 \in \Pi$, then $t \in \prod_{i \neq 2} \alpha_i^{\vee}(\mathbb{k})$ so it lies in the subgroup $\mathbb{K} := \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_j}, j = 1, 3, 4, 5, 6 \rangle \simeq \mathbf{SL}_6(\mathbb{k})$. All mixed classes in \mathbb{K}^{F_w} are not kthulhu by [2] and Lemma 5.10.

Assume first $|ww_0W_\Pi| = 3$ so (5.1) forces $z \neq 1$. In particular, $q \equiv 2(3)$ in this case. All pairs as in Lemma 4.17 with $w_{JF} = ww_0 \neq 1$ that have been discarded because of the order, can be again discarded for the same reason, as well as those that were discarded by using Remark 3.7 (3). As observed in [13], the groups $\mathbb{G}_i^{F_w}$ for ${}^2E_6(q)$ are obtained from those in the list for $E_6(q)$ by interchanging Chevalley and Steinberg's types in each factor of type A, D or E_6 . We are thus left with the

П	$w_{FJ}W_{\Pi}$	$[\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H}]^{F_w}$ (up to isogeny)
$A_{1} = \{-\alpha_{0}\}$ $A_{2} = \{\alpha_{2}, -\alpha_{0}\}$ $3A_{1} = \{\alpha_{4}, \alpha_{6}, -\alpha_{0}\}$ $4A_{1} = \{\alpha_{1}, \alpha_{4}, \alpha_{6}, -\alpha_{0}\}$ $3A_{2} = \{\alpha_{1}, \alpha_{3}, \alpha_{5}, \alpha_{6}, \alpha_{2}, -\alpha_{0}\}$	$s_1s_3s_5s_6$ $s_1s_3s_5s_6$, $s_{\beta_{11}}s_{\beta_{19}}s_{\beta_{20}}s_{\beta_{10}}$ $s_{\beta_{19}}s_{\beta_{11}}s_{\beta_{21}}s_{\beta_{22}}$ $s_{\beta_{13}}s_{\beta_{15}}s_{\beta_{28}}s_{\beta_{24}}$	$\mathbf{SL}_2(q)$ $\mathbf{SU}_3(q)$ $\mathbf{SL}_2(q^3)$ $\mathbf{SL}_2(q) \times \mathbf{SL}_2(q^3)$ $\mathbf{SU}_3(q^3)$

Table 6. Pairs $(\Pi, w_{FJ}W_{\Pi})$ in type 2E_6 , for $w_{FJ} \neq 1$ that are dealt with separately

cases in Table 6. There, β_i for i = 10, 11, 19, 20, 21, 22 are as in Lemma 4.17 and

$$\beta_{13} = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 + \alpha_4;$$
 $\beta_{15} = \alpha_2 + \alpha_4 + \alpha_5 + \alpha_6;$ $\beta_{24} = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 + 2\alpha_4 + 2\alpha_5 + \alpha_6;$ $\beta_{28} = \alpha_3 + \alpha_4 + \alpha_5 + \alpha_6.$

If $\Pi = \{-\alpha_0\}$ or $\{\alpha_2, -\alpha_0\}$ or $\{\alpha_4, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$, then Lemma 3.4 applies with $\sigma = s_1 s_3$ in the first two cases and $\sigma = s_1$ in the third one.

Let $\Pi = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_4, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$. If $v \in \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_0} \rangle$, then Lemma 3.4 applies with $\sigma = s_{\beta_{11}} s_{\beta_{21}}$. If, instead, $v \in \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_j}, j = 1, 4, 6 \rangle$, then $tv \in \mathbb{K}$ and it is mixed therein.

We claim that the case $\Pi = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3, \alpha_5, \alpha_6, \alpha_2, -\alpha_0\}$ with $t^{q+1} \in Z(\mathbb{G}^F) - 1$ cannot occur. Indeed, here $t = \alpha_1^{\vee}(\xi)\alpha_3^{\vee}(\xi^2)\alpha_5^{\vee}(\zeta)\alpha_6^{\vee}(\zeta^2)$ with $\xi^3 = \zeta^3 = 1$, $\xi \neq \zeta$, so $t^{q+1} = 1$ because $q \equiv 2(3)$.

We deal now with the case $|ww_0W_\Pi|=1$. Then $(ww_0)^{-1}\in W_\Pi$ so (5.1) implies $t^{q+1}=z=1$ and we take $w=w_0$, so $C_W(w\theta)=W$. Since either (3.5) or (3.6) holds, we discard all choices of Π for which no \mathbb{G}_i is isogenous to $\mathbf{SU}_m(q)$, $\mathbf{PSL}_3(2)$ or $\mathbf{SL}_2(q)$. This leaves us with Table 7. In most remaining cases we apply Remark 5.4 and we list the simple roots we use in the third column of Table 7. We deal with the remaining cases separately. Observe that since $w=w_0$, the subgroup \mathbb{K} is F_w -stable and $w\theta$ acts as -1 on its root system, so $\mathbb{K}^{F_w} \simeq \mathbf{SU}_6(q)$.

Let $\Pi=\{\alpha_1,\ \alpha_3,\ \alpha_4,\ \alpha_6,\ -\alpha_0\}$. If v has a component in either $\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm\alpha_0}\rangle$ or $\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm\alpha_6}\rangle$, then Lemma 3.4 applies with either $\sigma=s_5$ or $\sigma=s_2$. Assume $|\mathbb{J}_v|=1$ and $v\in\langle\mathbb{U}_{\pm\alpha_j},\ j=1,3,4\rangle$. Since $-\alpha_0\in\Pi$ we have $tv\in\mathbb{K}$ and it is mixed therein.

Let $\Pi = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3, \alpha_4, \alpha_5 - \alpha_0\}$. If v has a component in $\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_0} \rangle$ then Lemma 3.4 applies with $\sigma = s_6$. If $v \in \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_j}, j = 1, 3, 4, 5 \rangle$, since $-\alpha_0 \in \Pi$ we have $tv \in \mathbb{K}$ and it is mixed therein.

Let $\Pi = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3, \alpha_5 \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$. Here $t = \alpha_1^{\vee}(\xi)\alpha_3^{\vee}(\xi^2)\alpha_6^{\vee}(\zeta^2)$ with $\xi^3 = \zeta^3 = 1$, $\xi \neq \zeta$. The Weyl group involution $\sigma = s_{\beta_{13}}s_{\beta_{14}}s_{\beta_{15}}$ satisfies $\sigma(\alpha_1) = \alpha_5, \sigma(\alpha_3) = \alpha_6$ and $\sigma(\alpha_0) = \alpha_2$. Hence, if v has a component in $\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_0} \rangle$, then Lemma 3.4 applies. If, instead, v has no component in $\langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_0} \rangle$, then $tv \in \mathbb{K}$ and it is mixed therein.

Let $\Pi = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3, \alpha_4, \alpha_5, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$. A direct computation shows that, $t = \alpha_1^{\vee}(\zeta)\alpha_3^{\vee}(\zeta^2)\alpha_4^{\vee}(-1)\alpha_5^{\vee}(\zeta^4)\alpha_6^{\vee}(\zeta^5)$ for $\zeta \in \mathbb{K}$ such that $\zeta^6 = 1$, $\zeta^3 = -1 \neq 1$. Hence q is odd and (3.5) implies that $v \in \langle \mathbb{U}_{\pm \alpha_0} \rangle$. Also, the condition $t^q = t^{-1}$ gives $F(t) = \vartheta t^q = \vartheta t^{-1} = t$, so $t \in \mathbb{G}^F$ and we may take $x_s = t$ and replace

-		
П	$[\mathbb{H},\mathbb{H}]^{F_w}$	Reason to discard
	(up to isogeny)	
$A_1 = \{-\alpha_0\}$	$\operatorname{SL}_2(q)$	s_1
$2A_1 = \{\alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$\mathbf{SL}_2(q)^2$	s_1
$A_2 = \{\alpha_2, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_3(q)$	s_1
$3A_1 = \{\alpha_4, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$\mathbf{SL}_2(q)^3$	<i>s</i> ₁
$A_2 + A_1 = \{\alpha_2, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_3(q) \times SL_2(q)$	s_1
$A_3 = \{\alpha_2, \alpha_4, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_4(q)$	s_1
$4A_1 = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_4, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$\mathbf{SL}_2(q)^4$	s ₃ or s ₅ or s ₂
$A_2 + 2A_1 = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_3(q) \times SL_2(q)^2$	s_4 or s_5 or s_2
$2A_2 = \{\alpha_2, \alpha_5, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_3(q)^2$	s_1
$A_3 + A_1 = \{\alpha_4, \alpha_5, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_4(q) \times SL_2(q)$	s_1
$A_4 = \{\alpha_2, \alpha_4, \alpha_5, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_5(q)$	s_1
$2A_2 + A_1 = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3, \alpha_5, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_3(q)^2 \times SL_2(q)$	s_2 or s_4
$A_3 + 2A_1 = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3, \alpha_4, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_4(q) \times SL_2(q)^2$	s_2 or s_5 or $tv \in \mathbf{SU}_6(q)$
$A_4 + A_1 = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3, \alpha_4, \alpha_5, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_5(q) \times SL_2(q)$	s_6 or $tv \in \mathbf{SU}_6(q)$
$A_5 = \{\alpha_2, \alpha_4, \alpha_5, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_6(q)$	s_1
$3A_2 = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3, \alpha_5, \alpha_6, \alpha_2, -\alpha_0\}$	$SU_3(q)^3$	$s_{\beta_{13}}s_{\beta_{14}}s_{\beta_{15}}$ or $tv \in \mathbf{SU}_6(\mathbb{k})$
$A_5 + A_1 = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3, \alpha_4, \alpha_5, \alpha_6, -\alpha_0\}$	$\mathbf{SU}_6(q) \times \mathbf{SL}_2(q)$	$w_0 \in W_{\Pi}$ and Lemma 3.9

Table 7. Pairs (Π, W_{Π}) in type 2E_6 , for $w_{FJ}=1$

 $w=w_0$ by w=1. By Remark 4.9 we assume $v=x_{\alpha_0}(\xi)$ for some $\xi\in \mathbb{k}^{\times}$. Lemma 3.9 applies taking $\beta_1=\alpha_0,\,\beta_2=\alpha_2$ and $\beta_3=\alpha_4$.

Putting together Lemma 3.6, Proposition 3.8 and Lemmata 5.2 up to 5.13, we prove the main Theorem of this Section:

Theorem 5.14. Let G be a Steinberg group and $x = x_s x_u \in G$ with x_s , $x_u \neq 1$. Then \mathcal{O}_x^G is not kthulhu, and consequently \mathcal{O}_x^G collapses.

6. Nichols algebras over Chevalley and Steinberg groups

In order to prove Theorems 1.2 and 1.3, we have to consider now Nichols algebras attached to Yetter–Drinfeld modules over some specific finite groups, in other words, the cocycle \mathbf{q} is not arbitrary, but determined by a representation of the centraliser of a fixed element in the conjugacy class.

6.1. Unipotent orbits in Chevalley and Steinberg groups

Let G be a Chevalley or Steinberg group isomorphic to neither $\mathbf{PSL}_3(2)$ nor $\mathbf{PSL}_2(3) \simeq \mathbb{A}_4$, the latter being non-simple. Note that, as $\mathbf{PSL}_3(2) \simeq \mathbf{PSL}_2(7)$, the only unipotent conjugacy class in $\mathbf{PSL}_3(2)$ which is kthulhu is isomorphic to a semisimple class in $\mathbf{PSL}_2(7)$.

We now deal with Nichols algebras associated with unipotent classes \mathcal{O} in G and representations of the centraliser of $x \in \mathcal{O}$. In most of the cases we will prove that they are infinite-dimensional by reducing to a subgroup of G for which a similar statement is known. We begin with a case for which this strategy cannot be implemented, see Remark 6.4 below.

Lemma 6.1. Let $G = \mathbf{Sp}_4(3)$, $G = \mathbf{PSp}_4(3)$ and $\pi : G \to G$ the natural projection. Let \mathcal{O} be the unipotent class of an element $g_0 \in G$ whose Jordan form has blocks of size (2, 1, 1). Then, dim $\mathfrak{B}(M(\mathcal{O}, \rho)) = \infty$ for every $\rho \in \operatorname{Irr} C_G(g_0)$. The same statement holds replacing g_0 by $\pi(g_0)$ and $G_G(g_0)$ by $G_G(\pi(g_0))$.

Proof. There are two such unipotent classes in G and they are represented by $g_0 = \operatorname{id} \eta e_{1,4}$, with $\eta^2 = 1$. We find a suitable abelian subrack of \mathcal{O} and apply the results in [17] on Nichols algebras of diagonal type.

For both choices of g_0 , we consider the abelian subgroup H of $C_G(g_0)$ consisting of matrices of block form $g(X) := \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{id}_2 & X \\ 0 & \operatorname{id}_2 \end{pmatrix}$ where $X = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & a \end{pmatrix}$ for $a, b, c \in \mathbb{F}_3$. Then

$$\mathcal{O} \cap H = \left\{ \mathrm{id} + \eta e_{1,4}, \mathrm{id} + \eta e_{2,3}, g \begin{pmatrix} \eta & \eta \\ \eta & \eta \end{pmatrix}, g \begin{pmatrix} -\eta & \eta \\ \eta & -\eta \end{pmatrix} \right\} = \left\{ g_i = x_i \triangleright g_0, \ i \in \mathbb{I}_{0,3} \right\}$$
 with:

$$x_0 = 1$$
, $x_1 = \operatorname{diag}(J_2, J_2)$, $u = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ & 1 & 2 \\ & & 1 \end{pmatrix}$, $x_2 = ux_1$, $x_3 = u^2x_1$.

Observe that

$$u \triangleright g_0 = g_0$$
, $x_1 \triangleright g_2 = g_2$, $x_1 \triangleright g_3 = g_3$, $x_1 \triangleright g_1 = g_0$, $g_0g_1g_2g_3 = 1$.

As H is abelian, the restriction of ρ to H decomposes as a direct sum of 1-dimensional representations; let $\mathbb{C}v$ be one of these and let $\rho(g_i)v = \zeta_i v$ for every $i \in \mathbb{I}_{0,3}$. We necessarily have $\zeta_i^3 = 1$ and $\zeta_0\zeta_1\zeta_2\zeta_3 = 1$. Then $\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{x_i \otimes v, i \in \mathbb{I}_{0,3}\}$ is a braided vector subspace of $M(\mathcal{O}, \rho)$, where

$$c((x_i \otimes v) \otimes (x_j \otimes v)) = q_{ij}(x_j \otimes v) \otimes (x_i \otimes v), \quad q_{ij}v = \rho(x_j^{-1}x_i \triangleright g_0)v.$$

By direct computation we obtain

q_{ij}	0	1	2	3
0	ζ0	ζ1	ζ1	ζ1
1	ζ1	ζ0	$\zeta_0^2 \zeta_1^2 \zeta_2^2$	ζ2
2	ζ2	ζ_2	ζ0	$\zeta_0^2 \zeta_1^2 \zeta_2^2$
3	$\zeta_0^2 \zeta_1^2 \zeta_2^2$	$\zeta_0^2 \zeta_1^2 \zeta_2^2$	ζ2	ζ0

so

$$q_{01}q_{10} = \zeta_1^2,$$
 $q_{02}q_{20} = \zeta_1\zeta_2,$ $q_{03}q_{30} = \zeta_0^2\zeta_2^2,$ $q_{12}q_{21} = \zeta_0^2\zeta_1^2,$ $q_{13}q_{31} = \zeta_0^2\zeta_1^2,$ $q_{23}q_{32} = \zeta_0^2\zeta_1^2.$

Let $W = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{x_i \otimes v, i \in \mathbb{I}_{1,3}\}$. If either $\zeta_0 = 1$ or $\dim \mathfrak{B}(W) = \infty$, then $\dim \mathfrak{B}(M(\mathcal{O}, \rho)) = \infty$, so we assume that ζ_0 is a primitive third root of 1 and that $\dim \mathfrak{B}(W) < \infty$. Since the generalized Dynkin diagram of W does not occur in [17, Table 2], it must be disconnected. This forces $\zeta_1 = \zeta_0^2$, but then the generalized Dynkin diagram of $W' = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{x_0 \otimes v, x_1 \otimes v\}$ is connected and does not occur in [17, Table 1], so $\dim \mathfrak{B}(W') = \infty$, and a fortiori $\dim \mathfrak{B}(M(\mathcal{O}, \rho)) = \infty$. The statement for G follows similarly because the restriction of π to $\mathcal{O} \cap H$ is injective.

Proposition 6.2. Let $n \ge 2$, let M be either $\mathbf{Sp}_{2n}(3)$ or $\mathbf{PSp}_{2n}(3)$, and let \mathcal{O} be the unipotent class of an element x_u in M whose Jordan form has blocks of size $(2, 1^{2n-2})$. Then, dim $\mathfrak{B}(M(\mathcal{O}, \rho)) = \infty$ for every $\rho \in \operatorname{Irr} C_M(x_u)$.

Proof. If n=2 this is Lemma 6.1. If n>2 we use the embeddings of $\mathbf{Sp}_4(3)$ into $\mathbf{Sp}_{2n}(3)$ and $\mathbf{PSp}_{2n}(3)$ given by $\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} A & \mathrm{id}_{2n-4} & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}$ and [6, Lemma 3.2]. \square

We are now in a position to prove our next theorem.

Theorem 6.3. Let x be a unipotent element in a Chevalley or Steinberg group $G \not\simeq \mathbf{PSL}_3(2)$, $\mathbf{PSL}_2(3)$. Then $\dim \mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{O}_x, \rho) = \infty$ for all $\rho \in \operatorname{Irr} C_G(x)$.

Proof. We may assume that x is non-trivial. By Theorem 2.6 it is enough to prove the statement for the conjugacy classes in Table 1. If q=3, then we invoke Proposition 6.2. Let $q \neq 3$. These conjugacy classes are represented by an element $x_{\beta}(\xi)$ with $\xi \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$ and β a positive root by Remark 2.7. Since $x_{\beta}(\xi) \in \langle \mathbb{U}_{\beta}^F, \mathbb{U}_{-\beta}^F \rangle \leq \mathbf{SL}_2(q)$ or $\leq \mathbf{PSL}_2(q)$, the statement follows from [6, Lemma 3.2] together with: [14, Proposition 3.1] for q even; [15, Lemma 2.2] for p > 3, and the proof of [14, Lemma 3.7] for $q = 3^{2h+1}$, h > 0.

Remark 6.4. (a) We do not know whether dim $\mathfrak{B}(M(\mathcal{O}), \rho) = \infty$ for \mathcal{O}_u a non-trivial unipotent conjugacy class in $G = \mathbf{PSL}_2(3)$ and ρ an irreducible representation of $C_G(u)$. Indeed, the proof of [15, Proposition 4.3] does not cover the case of non-trivial unipotent conjugacy classes in $\mathbf{PSL}_2(3)$ because they are not real. These conjugacy classes correspond to the tetrahedral rack associated with a class of 3-cycles in \mathbb{A}_4 .

(b) There are examples of finite-dimensional Nichols algebras associated with the rack \mathcal{O}_u as in (a) and a cocycle that does not come from a representation of $C_G(u)$, see [18, Proposition 36].

6.2. Proofs of Theorems 1.2 and 1.3

Proof of Theorem 1.2.. By [19], V should be simple, say $V \simeq M(\mathcal{O}, \rho)$. By Theorem 1.1, we know that \mathcal{O} is either semisimple or unipotent, but the latter is discarded by Theorem 6.3.

Proof of Theorem 1.3.. Let $V = M(\mathcal{O}, \rho) \in \mathbb{C}^G_G \mathcal{YD}$. Assume that dim $\mathfrak{B}(V) < \infty$. By Theorem 1.2, $\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}_X$ is semisimple, hence ord x is odd since q is even. Since G is one of the groups in (1.2), - id belongs to the Weyl group W. Thus \mathcal{O} is real by 2.6. This contradicts [8], hence dim $\mathfrak{B}(V) = \infty$. We conclude by [6, Lemma 1.4].

Notice that [19] is not needed for the last proof.

Funding Open access funding provided by Universitá degli Studi di Padova within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- [1] Andruskiewitsch, N.: An introduction to Nichols algebras. In: Cardona, A., et al. (eds.) Quantization, Geometry and Noncommutative Structures in Mathematics and Physics, pp. 135–195. Springer, Berlin (2017)
- [2] Andruskiewitsch, N., Carnovale, G., García, G.A.: Finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebras over finite simple groups of Lie type I. Unipotent classes in $\mathbf{PSL}_n(q)$. J. Algebra **442**, 36–65 (2015)
- [3] Andruskiewitsch, N., Carnovale, G., García, G.A.: Finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebras over finite simple groups of Lie type II. Unipotent classes in symplectic groups. Commun. Contemp. Math. 18, No. 4, Article ID 1550053 (2016)
- [4] Andruskiewitsch, N., Carnovale, G., García, G.A.: Finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebras over finite simple groups of Lie type III. Semisimple classes in $\mathbf{PSL}_n(q)$. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. $\mathbf{33}(3)$, 995–1024 (2017)
- [5] Andruskiewitsch, N., Carnovale, G., García, G.A.: Finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebras over finite simple groups of Lie type IV. Unipotent classes in Chevalley and Steinberg groups. Algebr. Represent. Theory 23, 621–655 (2020)
- [6] Andruskiewitsch, N., Fantino, F., Graña, M., Vendramin, L.: Finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebras with alternating groups are trivial. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 190, 225– 245 (2011)
- [7] Andruskiewitsch, N., Fantino, F., Graña, M., Vendramin, L.: Pointed Hopf algebras over the sporadic simple groups. J. Algebra 325, 305–320 (2011)
- [8] Andruskiewitsch, N., Zhang, S.: On pointed Hopf algebras associated to some conjugacy classes in \mathbb{S}_n . Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 135, 2723–2731 (2007)

- [9] Carnovale, G., Costantini, M.: Finite-dimensional pointed Hopf algebras over finite simple groups of Lie type VI. Suzuki and Ree groups. J. Pure Appl. Algebra (to appear)
- [10] Carter, R.W.: Centralizers of semisimple elements in the finite classical groups. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 42(1), 1–41 (1981)
- [11] Fantino, F.: Conjugacy classes of p-cycles of type D in alternating groups. Commun. Algebra 4426–4434 (2014)
- [12] Fantino, F., Vendramin, L.: On twisted conjugacy classes of type D in sporadic simple groups. Contemp. Math. 585, 247–259 (2013)
- [13] Fleischmann, P., Janiszczak, I.: The semisimple conjugacy classes of finite groups of lie type E_6 and E_7 . Commun. Algebra **21**, 93–161 (1993)
- [14] Freyre, S., Graña, M., Vendramin, L.: On Nichols algebras over $\mathbf{SL}(2,q)$ and $\mathbf{GL}(2,q)$. J. Math. Phys. **48**, 123513 (2007)
- [15] Freyre, S., Graña, M., Vendramin, L.: On Nichols algebras over PGL(2, q) and PSL(2, q). J. Algebra Appl. 9, 195–208 (2010)
- [16] Geck, M., Hiss, G., Lübeck, F., Malle, G., Pfeiffer, G.: CHEVIE–a system for computing and processing generic character tables, Computational methods in Lie theory (Essen, 1994). Appl. Algebra Eng. Commun. Comput. 7, 175–210 (1996)
- [17] Heckenberger, I.: Classification of arithmetic root systems of rank 3, in: Actas del "XVI Coloquio Latinoamericano de Álgebra", Colonia, Uruguay, Bibl. Rev. mat. Iberoamericana, Rev. mat. Iberoamericana, Madrid, pp. 227–252 (2007)
- [18] Heckenberger, I., Lochmann, A., Vendramin, L.: Braided racks, Hurwitz actions and Nichols algebras with many cubic relations. Transform. Groups 17, 157–194 (2012)
- [19] Heckenberger, I., Schneider, H.-J.: Root systems and Weyl groupoids for Nichols algebras Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 101, 623–654 (2010)
- [20] Humphreys, J.E.: Conjugacy Classes in Semisimple Algebraic Groups. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI (1995)
- [21] Malle, G., Testerman, D.: Linear algebraic groups and finite groups of lie type. Cambr. Stud. Adv. Math. 133 (2011)
- [22] Schönert, Martin, et al.: GAP—Groups, Algorithms, and Programming Version 3 Release 4 patchlevel 4. Lehrstuhl D für Mathematik, Rheinisch Westfälische Technische Hochschule, Aachen, Germany (1997)
- [23] McNinch, G., Sommers, E.: Component groups of unipotent centralizers in good characteristic. J. Algebra 260, 323–337 (2003)
- [24] Springer, T.A.: Linear Algebraic Groups, Progress in Mathematics (9), 2nd edn. Birkhäuser, Boston (1998)
- [25] Springer, T.A., Steinberg, R.: Conjugacy Classes, Seminar on Algebraic Groups and Related Finite Groups, p. 167–266, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 131. Springer (1970)
- [26] Steinberg, R.: Endomorphisms of linear algebraic groups. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 80 (1968)
- [27] Steinberg, R.: Lectures on Chevalley groups. Yale University Press, Yale (1968)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.